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SBOARD OF DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Next Games, founded in 2013, is a Finnish developer

and publisher of license-based, free-to-play mobile | m p O rt a m t eve n tS Key I: | g U reS

games. The company became the first listed game . 2 O 2 O
company in Finland (Nasdaq First North Growth | n

EUR million 2020 2019 2018
Market Finland). The group’s business operations are c
run by its parent company, which operates the full o Y
game development and publishing life-cycle from » Profitability turnaround Revenue 27.2 34.7 35.2
game development to publishing, marketing and sales. » Release of Stranger Things in the first markets Gross Profit 14.3 19.7 213
The games are available to consumers on Apple’s and » New, strengthened management team T
Google’s app stores and are based on third-party EBITDA0535 ........................ 148
brands or global entertainment franchises, such as Operating Result (EBIT) 3.4 -7.4 -16.9
movies, TV-series or books. Adjusted Operating Result -0.1 -4.0 -13.8
Gross profit % 52% 57% 61%
EBITDA % 2% -10% -42%
Operating Result (EBIT) % -12% -21% -48%
Adjusted Operating Result % 0% -11% -39%

Investments 3.5 2.4 5.0
Expenditure 7.0 7.6 -11.8
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Outlook 2021

Next Games expects revenues to grow to at least
EUR 40 million in 2021. The company is targeting
profitable growth with full year EBITDA positive in
2021.

BASIS FOR OUTLOOK

The outlook is based on an estimate that Walking
Dead games will generate revenue on a steady or
slightly declining trend. Revenue for Stranger Things
will be increased during 2021, and Blade Runner will
be released in key markets.

Dividend Policy

Next Games does not have a defined dividend policy.

All shares carry equal rights to dividends and other
distributions of the company after the shares have
been registered in the Trade Register.

Dividend Proposal

The parent company'’s distributable funds on
December 31, 2020 were 7.5 million euros, of which
EUR -6.4 million consisted of a loss for the financial
year ended December 31, 2020. The Board of
Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting
that the loss for the financial year ended December
31, 2020 be recognized as retained earnings and that
no dividend be paid for the financial year ended
December 31, 2020. The Board of Directors Report will
be signed before it is presented to the Annual General
Meeting and a proposal will be made at the AGM.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 2020

In 2020, Next Games' revenue was EUR 27.2 (34.7)
million, a decline of 22% compared to the previous
year. Next Games EBITDA improved significantly in
2020, turned positive and was 0.5 (-3.5) million euros.
Next Games' comparable Operating Result (EBIT) also
improved significantly to EUR -3.4 (-7.4) million.
Revenues consisted primarily of The Walking Dead:
Our World and The Walking Dead: No Man's Land. The
largest country in terms of revenue was the United
States 45% (45%). The majority of net sales were 95%
(94%) from in-game purchases and 5% (6%) from
advertising revenue. There was no change in the
distribution of revenue per platform compared to the
previous year; revenue was evenly split between
Apple’s App Store and Google Play app stores, 50% of
each.

The loss for the financial year was EUR -3.9 (-8.3)
million. Financial income and expenses were EUR -0.5
(-0.2) million. Taxes for the period were EUR 0.2 (-0.5),
due to changes in deferred taxes. Earnings per share
were EUR -0.14 (-0.41).

In 2020, Business Finland paid grants equivalent to 0.3
(0.0) million as part of first stage funding. The project
started in December 2019 and is expected to end
latest on September 30, 2021. The project has four
phases and Business Finland will issue the grant in
four stages based on submitted and approved reports
on costs incurred and progression of the project. In
addition Business Finland paid Next Games a EUR 0.1
(0.0) million grant related to a project for Business
Interruptions. The project started in the Spring of 2020
and ended in September 2020.

External factors related to the operating environment
also influenced the financial development for the
company. COVID-19 restrictions on movement had an
effect on the capability of playing safely location-based
games. This in turn had an effect on the user amounts
of The Walking Dead: Our World and contributed
significantly to the decline in the number of players in
the early spring. However, new updates and
functionalities were introduced to make the game
easier to play, such as “Free Roam” enabling free

movement on the map, as well as “Survival Master
Series” functionality where players battle each other.
With these updates, the game took a turn in June-july,
and the decline in the number of players slowed
down. The company transitioned to working from
home in March, but despite the exceptional
circumstances was able to continue game
development in a normal fashion. The effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic have been minor on the
company’'s gaming business, as a result of which there
have been no changes in the timing of revenue
recognition, goodwill, capitalization of the
development costs or impairments. Recognition of
revenue has been impacted by seasonal player
behavior which is typical during the reporting period.
Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, the company has
been able to continue game development as planned.
The company has estimated that the second wave of
the pandemic will not have a significant impact on
business.

Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, the market kept on
growing. The mobile games industry broke its
estimated USD 68.2 billion in revenues and generated
USD 77.2 billion in 2020, equivalent to a 13.3% growth
from 2019. Since the COVID-19 pandemic began, 48%
of US consumers have participated in some form of
video gaming activity; with 29% of US consumers say
they are more likely to use their free time to play a
video game than spend it on other forms of
entertainment.

Changes occurred also in the user acquisition
environment. During 2020 Facebook user acquisition
prices continued to rise, and Apple announced plans
to restrict the sharing of IDFA which will affect the way
mobile games companies market their games in 2021.
The company has responded to these changes during
2020, by improving analytics and technology to match
new ways of doing marketing to players.
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Cashflow, Financing and Balance Sheet

The balance sheet total in 2020 was EUR 30.1 (34.6)
million. Equity ratio 67% (65%). The terms of the
company'’s lease have not changed, and as a result,
there have been no changes to the extension or

cancellation options and the value of the lease
liabilities has not changed significantly. The COVID-19
pandemic has not caused any revaluations in the
company’s income statement or balance sheet figures.

EUR million Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018
Non-current assets 21.9 21.7 22.8
Currentassets 82 29 136
Totalassets o1 346 365
CEquity 04 28 29
Totalliabilites 07 e 136
Longterm liabiltes 27 37 47
Shortterm liabilites 80 81 89
Total equity and liabilities 301 34.6 36.5

At the end of the financial year 2020, cash and cash
equivalents decreased by EUR 3.4 million to EUR 4.3
(7.7) million.

Net cash flow from operating activities stayed positive
throughout 2020. Total net cash flow from operating
activities in 2020 amounted to EUR 1.8 (-3.6) million.
Net cash flow from operating activities was
significantly improved due to both increased
profitability in Publishing Operations as well as the
overall financial result in 2020.

Cash flow from financing activities was EUR -1.3 (6.6)
million in 2020. In the comparison period cash flow
from financing was mostly influenced by the
Company's rights issue of EUR 8.0 million in October
2019. In 2020 cash flow from financing activities
consisted mainly of leasing payments related to the
company'’s offices.

Next Games continued to invest into product
development and cash flow from investing activities
for the full fiscal year was EUR -3.5 (-2.7) million.

The Group finances its operations mainly with equity
financing and revenue from business operations. The
company has also received Business Finland grants
and loans.
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BUSINESS REVIE

Publishing

Next Games publishing operations include revenues The company has focused on improving the PUBLISHING OPERATIONS’ PROFITABILITY
and expenses directly attributable to its published profitability of its publishing operations, as is evident EUR million 2020 2019 2018
games, in addition to an allocated sha.re of the by the S|.g.n|f-|cant @provement in the companys Revenue 272 347 352
company’s general expenses proportionate to the profitability in the fiscal year of 2020. EffECLIVE oo L L :
number of employees working on published games. leverage of our licensed game strategy brings a strong Grossprofit 43 97 21.3
Publishing activities represent the profitability of the organic user flow to the games, which allows us to Other Operating Income 0.1 - -
company’s business, without the costs associated with attract players with lower user acquisition costs. T e I e e
panys busl ithou i I w . players wi ) .W . } quistt Sales and Marketing costs -9.5 -17.6 -26.8
the product development of unpublished games. During 2020, Publishing Operations EBITDA WAS — coorrr L L e e -
During 2020 The Walking Dead: No Man’s Land and EUR 6.4 (3.8) million, 24% (11%) of revenues. _Publishing Operationsegir 48 21 -5.5
The Walking Dead: Our World generated most of the Publishing Operations Depreciations 1.6 1.6 1.0
company'srevenues. o T N T e e
Publishing Operations EBITDA 6.4 3.8 -4.5
EBITDA % 24% 1% -13%
COMBINED KEY OPERATIONAL METRICS OF PUBLISHED GAMES
Oct-Dec Jul-Sep Apr-jun Jan-Mar Oct-Dec
2020 2020 2020 2020 2019
Gross Bookings (MEUR) 6.6 6.1 6.9 7.3 8.2
DAU 207,310 215,558 232,092 250,539 303,847
MAU 672,576 717,140 725,082 810,815 1,267,688
ARPDAU (USD) 0.49 0.45 0.37 0.36 0.33
ARPDAU (EUR) 0.41 0.38 0.33 0.32 0.29
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Research and

Development Activities

Next Games Research and Development activities
consist of salaries as well as outsourced services.
During 2020, the company further developed both the
Blade Runner: Rogue game and the Stranger Things:
Puzzle Tales game.

In total, activities amounted to EUR 5.6 (6.6) million
and were related to both game and technology
development. During the reporting period, the
company capitalized in accordance with IAS 38 EUR 3.5
(2.4) million. 58% (51%) of employees worked in R&D
developing new products. All R&D activities are in
Helsinki.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

EUR million 2020 2019 2018
Personnel expenses -4.5 -4.3 -4.5
outsourcing 08 o5 42
Share-based payments -0.2 -0.3 -0.7
General cost allocation -1.6 -2.5 2.4
Total costs -7.0 -7.6 -11.8
Deprecaions 21 3 07
Capitalizaon 35 24 5.0
Total -5.6 -6.6 -7.5
Percentage of revenue 2% 0% 21%
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OTHER THAN FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Personnel

At the end of 2020, Next Games had 104 (107)
employees who represented 22 (24) different
nationalities. Of Next Games employees 78% (75%)

were men, and 22% (25%) were women. On average in
2020, the company employed 109 people (106).

EUR million 2020 2019 2018
Salaries and Wages 4.6 5.0 5.1
Other Social Security Expenses 0.1 0.1 0.1
Share-based Payments 0.4 0.5 1.5
Pension Expenses 0.7 0.8 0.9
Total 5.8 6.5 7.6

Annual General Meetings

The Annual General Meeting authorized the Board of
Directors to decide on the repurchase of the
company’'s own shares, on the issuance of new shares
and on the issuance of option rights entitling to
shares. For more information, see Authorizations.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of Next Games
Corporation was held in Helsinki on May 27, 2020.

The meeting approved the financial statements for the
financial period ended December 31, 2019 and
granted discharge from liability to all members of the
board of directors and the managing director. In
accordance with the proposal of the board of
directors, the general meeting resolved not to
distribute any dividends for the financial period ended
on December 31, 2019. The General Meeting
authorized the Board of Directors to decide on the
repurchase of the company’s own shares, on the
issuance of shares and/or the issuance of option rights
and other special rights entitling to shares.

The annual general meeting confirmed the board of
directors and the company's auditor. Audit firm
Deloitte Oy was elected auditor of the company, with
Authorised Public Accountant Mikko Lahtinen serving
as the responsible auditor of the company.

The general meeting decided to support the presented
remuneration policy for governing bodies. The general
meeting approved a monthly compensation of EUR
4,500 for the chairman of the board of directors and
EUR 2,500 for other members of the board of
directors. In addition, a compensation of EUR 1,000
will be paid to the members of the remuneration
committee and the audit committee for each
committee meeting. Furthermore, the travel expenses
of the members of the board of directors will be
compensated in accordance with the company'’s travel

policy.
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Authorizations

On February 23, 2017, the company’s shareholders
resolved unanimously to authorize the Board of
Directors to decide on one or more directed share
issues against consideration. By virtue of this
authorization, the number of new shares issued based
on the authorization shall not exceed 1,900,000
shares. Under the authorization, the Board of
Directors may decide on a directed share issue in
deviation from the shareholders’ preemptive rights,
provided that there is a weighty financial reason from
the company’s perspective, including the issue of
shares for executing potential acquisitions or other
corporate transactions, or for acquiring new licenses
against the share consideration. Under the
authorization, the Board of Directors has the right to
decide on the other terms and conditions of a share
issue. The authorization is valid for five years from the
date it was granted, i.e. until February 23, 2022. As at
December 31, 2020, the authorization remains fully
unused.

On September 25, 2019, the Extraordinary General
Meeting resolved to authorize the Board of Directors
to decide on a share issue and/or issue of option

rights entitling to shares in accordance with the Board
of Director’s proposal. Pursuant to the authorization, a
maximum of 1,500,000 shares may be issued in one or
more tranches, corresponding to approximately 8.1%
of all registered shares in the company on the date of
the notice convening the General Meeting. The share
issue and/or issue of option rights can be carried out
in deviation from the shareholders’ pre-emptive
subscription right (directed issue). Under the
authorization, shares and/or option rights can be
issued for the implementation of the company’s
incentive schemes. Under the authorization, the Board
of Directors may issue either new shares or treasury
shares. The Board of Directors would be authorised to
decide on all other conditions of the issuance of
shares and/or option rights. The authorization is valid
until September 25, 2024. The authorization does not
revoke prior authorizations of the Board of Directors
to decide on the issuance of shares and/or option
rights entitling to shares. As at December 31, 2019,
the authorization remains fully unused. As at
December 31, 2020 a total of 102,782 shares from the
authorisation has been used, and 1,397,218 shares
remain.

On May 27, 2020, the General Meeting authorised the
board of directors to decide on the repurchase and/or
acceptance as pledge of a maximum of 1,800,000 own
shares in one or more tranches. The shares shall be
repurchased using the company’s unrestricted equity,
on a multilateral trading facility in trading organised by
Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd, due to which the repurchase will
take place in a directed manner. The price paid for the
shares shall be based on the price of the company’s
share on the multilateral trading facility, such that the
minimum price of purchased shares is the lowest
market price of the share quoted on the multilateral
trading facility during the term of validity of the
authorisation and the maximum price,
correspondingly, is the highest market price quoted on
the multilateral trading facility during the term of
validity of the authorisation. Shares can be purchased
for the purpose of improving the company's capital
structure, carrying out corporate or financing
transactions, implementing the company’s incentive
schemes, or to be otherwise transferred or cancelled.
The authorisation is valid until November 30, 2021. As
at December 31, 2020, the authorization remains fully
unused.

On May 27, 2020, the General Meeting authorised the
board of directors to decide on the issuance of shares
and/or option rights or other special rights entitling to
shares e.g. for carrying out corporate or financing
transactions, in consideration for new licenses, for
creating strategic partnerships, for implementing the
company'’s incentive schemes, or for other purposes
decided by the board of directors. Pursuant to the
authorisation, the board of directors may decide to
issue @ maximum of 2,700,000 shares in one or several
tranches. However, a maximum of 1,396,000 shares
may be issued for the purpose of implementing the
company'’s incentive schemes. The authorisation
includes the right to decide on issuances of shares
and/or option rights in deviation from the
shareholders’ preemptive rights (directed issue). The
board of directors may decide to issue either new
shares or treasury shares. The authorisation is valid
until April 30, 2025. As at December 31, 2020, the
authorization remains fully unused.
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Composition of the Board
and its Committees

The Annual General Meeting May 27, 2020 appointed
the members of the Board of Directors:

» Petri Niemi, Chairman of the Board

» Jari Ovaskainen, Member of the Board

» Peter Levin, Member of the Board

» Xenophin Lategan, Member of the Board
» Elina Anckar, Member of the Board

» Nicholas Seibert, Member of the Board

The Board of Directors has evaluated the
independence of its members. All Board members are
independent of the company. Jari Ovaskainen owns
26.36% of the company, the other members of the
Board are independent of the company’s
shareholders.

The Board of Directors has two committees, the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. The
members of the Audit Committee are Elina Anckar
(Chairman) and Petri Niemi. The members of the
Remuneration Committee are Petri Niemi (Chairman)
and Jari Ovaskainen.

Audit

The annual general meeting confirmed the company’s
auditor. Audit firm Deloitte Oy was elected as the
auditor of the company, with Authorised Public
Accountant Mikko Lahtinen serving as the responsible
auditor of the company.

Group
Composition

There were no changes in the group structure in 2020.
Further information on the structure of Next Games
Group can be found in the notes to the financial
statements, section 1.4.

NEXT GAMES / BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020



N

CEO and
Group Executive
Management

The Group’s executive management consisted of the
following members at the end of 2020:

» Teemu Huuhtanen, Chief Executive Officer

» Annina Salvén, Chief Financial Officer

» Saara Bergstrom, Chief Marketing Officer

» Kalle Hiitola, Head of New Games

» Joonas Laakso, Chief People and Culture Officer
(Appointed 25th of November 2020)

» Yiannis Alexopoulos, Chief Growth Officer
(Appointed November 25, 2020)

» Matias Arje, Chief Technology Officer (Appointed
November 25, 2020)

In November 2020, Joonas Laakso, Chief People and
Culture Officer, Yiannis Alexopolous, Chief Growth
Officer, and Matias Arje Chief Technology Officer, were
appointed to the Management Team. Chief Operating
Officer and member of executive management Joonas
Viitala, moved on to other duties outside the company
in December 2020.

Corporate
Governance

A separate Corporate Governance Statement has been
published in connection with the Board of Directors’
Report. The statement is available on the Next Games
website at: www.nextgames.com. The statement
includes descriptions of the compliance with the
Corporate Governance code and risk management
principles.

Shares and Shareholders

Next Games share (NXTGMS), ISIN code FI4000233267,
is listed on the Nasdaq First North Finland Growth
Market maintained by Nasdaq Helsinki Oy. The shares
belong to the book-entry system maintained by
Euroclear Finland Oy. As at December 31, 2019, Next
Games' registered share capital amounted to EUR
80,000 and the number of registered shares was
27,985,988 (27,916,224 at the end of 2019). The
company has one class of shares. Each share entitles
its shareholder to one (1) vote in the general meeting.
The shares have no nominal value. The weighted
average share amount in 2020 was 27,944,968
(20,346,171 in 2019).

During 2020 a total number of 69,764 (114,480) new
shares subscribed for with stock options were
registered. The share subscription price was
determined in accordance with the individually
applicable equity plan and option agreement. These
shares have been entered into the trade register, as of
which time the new shares carry equal shareholder
rights with the company’s existing shares. The entire
subscription price of EUR 19,059.84 was recorded in
the reserve for invested unrestricted equity and the
company'’s share capital has remained unchanged.

As at December 2020, the company had 7,005 (5,165)
registered shareholders. 23.2% (27.1%) of all shares
are nominee registered. In 2020, the highest share
price was EUR 2.67 (2.02) and the lowest price was
EUR 0.55 (0.79) per share. At the end of 2020 the share
closing price was EUR 2.24 (0.89) and the market value
was approximately EUR 63 (25) million. The number of
shares traded on Nasdaq First North Growth Market
was 11.5 (7.9) million.

TREASURY SHARES

During 2020, the company did not redeem or dispose
of any treasury shares and held as many treasury
shares as in the comparison period: 13,410 (13,410)
equivalent to 0.05% (0.05%) of its own shares.

SHARE BASED COMPENSATION

Since 2014 Next Games has issued a yearly share-
based incentive (option) program, which includes all of
its staff. The company had five (5) share-based
incentive programs in use during 2020. More details
on the programs can be found in the Remuneration
Report and from section 5.3 of the notes to the
financial statements.
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Assessment of Most Significant Risks

Next Games is exposed to risks that may arise from
the company’s operations or changes in the business
environment. The risks described below may have an
adverse effect on the business or financial condition,
and thus on the company value. The below risks are
the most important, but the list does not cover all
possible risks. In the future, other significant risks than
those described below may occur.

RISKS RELATED TO BUSINESS

OPERATIONS OR THE INDUSTRY

Next Games is dependent on the sales generated by
two live games, which generated approximately 100
percent of the revenue for the company in 2020.
Revenue growth and the success of the company is
dependent on future game releases. Next Games
might fail to develop and publish new games on time
or at all, as well as further developing its existing
games, which would have a material negative effect on
the business of Next Games. Delays in the
development of games could lead to, among other
things, the delay of expected revenue or termination
of the license agreement related to the games.

Next Games may experience fluctuations in its profit
over time due to a number of factors, such as the

popularity of games, ability to maintain and increase
the number of its players who purchase a large
amount of virtual products inside the game and the
revenue generated by all players, which make Next
Games' future results difficult to predict. Next Games
spends a significant portion of its cash flow from
operations on player acquisition and marketing
relating to its games which will not necessarily result in
revenue, so that if such marketing and player
acquisition efforts are not effective, Next Games'
business could be harmed.

Next Games' business is subject to a variety of
regulations worldwide, such as laws and regulations
concerning data protection and data security, which
may be unclear and still developing. As a result, the
failure of Next Games or its platform distributors to
follow regulations or the increase of regulations could
harm Next Games' business.

FINANCIAL RISKS

Next Games has incurred significant losses, and it may
not be able to turn its business profitable or cash flow
positive. According to Next Games, the risks
associated with funding its operations and cash
position are essential to implement its strategy and
continuity of business.

Next Games has activated game development costs to
its balance sheet, which have uncertain profits in the
future. In addition, Next Games has made in its
balance sheet, in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (the IFRS), estimates
related to goodwill and other assets, which carry a
depreciation risk in case future profits of Next Games
do not actualize as expected.

New licensing agreements may include advance
payments, which are deductible from future royalty
payments, but if a project related to the new licensing
agreements is canceled Next Games must record
write-downs with respect to the advance payments.

UNCERTAINTIES AND RISK RELATED TO
UNEXPECTED EVENTS

The termination of significant license agreements or
other unfavorable decisions made by licensors may
materially negatively affect the business of Next
Games.

If Next Games is unable to maintain good relationships

with third-party distribution platforms, such as Apple
App Store and Google Play; if the contractual terms

concerning them are altered; or if Next Games violates

or it is alleged that Next Games violates the platform

provider's terms and conditions, such factors, if
materialized, may have an adverse effect on Next
Games' business.

Any failure or significant interruption in Next Games’
technological infrastructure, possible coding errors or
flaws, or problems with third party technologies the
company uses, could negatively impact the popularity
of its games, harm their operations, diminish the
scalability of technology and harm Next Games’
business.
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Events After
the Reporting
Period

No significant events after the reporting period.

Annual
General Meeting
2021

Next Games' Annual General Meeting is scheduled for
Wednesday, March 31, 2020. The company's Board of
Directors has issued a separate notice of the Annual
General Meeting on March 9, 2021.

Financial
Calendar
2021

Next Games' Half-year review for January-june 2021
will be released on Friday, August 13, 2021.

The financial statements and the report of the Board
of Directors for the financial year 2020 as well as the
Half-year review for January-June 2021 are published
as a company bulletin and on the company’s website
at www.nextgames.com/fi/reports

Related
Party
Transactions

Next Games' related parties include its subsidiaries,
associated company, the members of the Board of
Directors, CEO, the members of the Management
Team, as well as shareholders having significant
influence over the company. Related parties also
include the close family members of these individuals
and entities that are controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified as a related party. Transactions
with related parties were made on an arm’s length
basis. Next Games related party transactions include
normal business transactions with license partners
(AMCQ). Transactions are normal in Next Games
business model and are following arm'’s length
principle. Information about related party
transactions can be found in note 6.1 to the financial
statements.

Mergers and
Acquisitions

There were no mergers or acquisitions during the
reporting period.
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Definitions and Reconciliation
of Alternative Performance
Measurements and Key Financial

Figures

KEY OPERATIONAL METRICS DEFINED

DAU (Daily Active Users). A user is counted as a daily
active user if they sign into the game at least once
during a 24-hour period in UTC. Average DAU is
calculated by adding the total number of active players
as of the end of each day in a given period and
dividing by the number of days in the period. DAU is a
key measure for player network engagement.

MAU (Monthly Active Users). A user is counted as a
monthly active user if they sign into the game at least
once during a 30-day period. Average MAU is

calculated by adding the total number of active players
as of the end of each month in a given period and
dividing by the number of months in the period. MAU
is a key measure of the overall size of the player
network.

ARPDAU (Average Revenue Per Daily Active User).
ARPDAU is calculated by dividing daily gross bookings
by daily active users (DAU). ARPDAU is an important
measure of monetization as it places sales in relation
to player volume.

RECONCILIATION OF ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENTS

EUR million 2020 2019 2018
Operating Result (EBIT) -3.4 -1.4 -16.9
Depreciations 39 40 22
EBITDA 0.5 -3.5 -14.8
OperatingResult €8T) 34 74 169
Other than IFRS 16 Depreciations . 29 0 16
(FRS 2 costrecording o4 o5 15
Adjusted Operating Result -0.1 -4.0 -13.8
Revenue 272 347 352
Cost of Revenue -12.9 -15.0 -14.0
GrossProfit 43 w7 213
Other Operating Income o1 00 0.0
Marketing & Sales .95 a7z 268
Publishing Operations EBIT 4.8 21 -5.5
Depreciations, Publishing Operations 6 7 10
Publishing Operations EBITDA 6.4 3.8 -4.5
Revenue 272 47 352
Changes in Deferred Revenue 02 05 06
GrossBookings 270 342 358

NEXT GAMES / BOARD OF DIRECTORS’

REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020



2

CALCULATION OF KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

Gross Bookings = A non-IFRS Financial Measure,
defined as the total amount paid by our users for
virtual items in a given reporting period. It does not
include deferrals, and thus it is revenue-adjusted with
the change (+/-) in deferred revenue.

Gross Profit = Revenue adjusted for (+/-) server
expenses, expenses and depreciations related to
royalties and license fees, as well as platform cut.

EBITDA = Operating Result (EBIT) adjusted with
depreciations.

Adjusted Operating Result = Operating Result (EBIT)
is adjusted for depreciations for capitalized items
relating to product developments and licenses
according to IAS 38. However, depreciations of
premises, falling under IFRS 16 standard, are not
adjusted from EBIT.

Publishing Operation’s EBIT = Revenues generated
by the company’s published games, adjusted by the
costs and investments related to game’s maintenance,
further development, marketing and customer
support.

Publishing Operation’s = Publishing Operations EBIT
adjusted by depreciations.

Equity
Ratio =

Capital and reserves total
Total Assets - Advances Received

Earnings per share (EPS), undiluted =

Profit (loss) for the financial year divided by the
average number of outstanding shares during the
financial year.

100

Earnings per share (EPS), diluted =

Profit (loss) for the financial year divided by the
average number of outstanding shares during the
financial year after adding the number of shares with
potential dilution effect.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

EUR million Note 2020 2019 EUR million Note 2020 2019
Revenue 2.1 27.2 34.7 Profit before taxes -4.1 -7.8
Costofrevenue --------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 23 ------------------------- 129 ........................ 150 Current income taxes 6.3 - -0.1
Gross profit 14.3 19.7 Change in deferred tax 6.3 0.2 -04
Otheroperatlng mcome ------------------------------------------------------------------- 22 --------------------------- O 7 .......................... O 0 | Total income tax expense ’ | 0.2 ’ -0.5
Researchanddevelopment 23 ..6....65  Resutfortheperiod 2 83
SaIesandMarketmg -------------------------------------------------------------------------- 2395176 Total comprehensive result for the period -3.9 -8.3
Administrative 23 32 30  Resultattributable to the owners of the parent 39 83
Operating result (EBIT) -3.4 -7.4
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ Shares Note
Finance income 5.6 0.0 0.1 Result per share for profit attributable to the owners
CFinancecosts s6 05 03 O R I |
Finance costs, net -0.5 0.2 ... Non-Diluted earnings per share, EUR >3 N O 041
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" Diluted earnings per share, EUR 5.3 -0.14 -0.41
Share of associmes esa op Ty Average number of shares during the accountingperiod 53 27944968 20346171
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" Number of shares at the end of accounting period 5.3 27,985,988 27,916,224

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EUR million Note Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019 EUR million Note Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
Assets Equity and liabilities
Non-currentassets Bquity o530
Goodwill a1 33 33 Sharecapital o1 01
ntangible assets 22 21 106 Reserve for invested unrestricted equiy 617 617
Property, plant and equipment R 39 53 | Retained earnings 385 306
Sharesofassociates - 02 | profit (loss) for the period 39 83
Other long term receivables 32 o 11 Total equity 19.4 22.8
Deferred tax assets 3.4 1.5 1.2

Total non-current assets 21.9 21.7 L|ab|I|t|es -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Current assets Loan from public administration 5.4 0.5 0.5

Trade receivables and other receivables 3.2 3.9 5.2 Lease liabilities 5.5 2.1 3.2

Cash and cash equivalents 5.8 4.3 7.7 Total non-current liabilities 2.7 3.7
Total current assets 8.2 12.9 Short-term liabilities

Governmental agency loan 5.4 0.1 0.2

Total assets 30.1 34.6 Lease liabilities 5.5 1.1 1.0

Deferred income 3.0 1.2 1.0

Trade payables 3.3 2.0 3.7

Other liabilities 3.3 0.2 0.1

Accrued liabilities 3.3 3.4 2.2

Total current liabilities 8.0 8.1

Total liabilities 10.7 11.8

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. Total equity and liabilities 30.1 34.6
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share Reserve for invested Retained Share Reserve for invested Retained

EUR million Note capital unrestricted equity earnings Total EUR million Note capital unrestricted equity earnings Total

Equity at Jan 1, 2019 0.1 53.9 -31.1 22.9 Eqwtyatjan 1, 2020 0.1 61.7 -38.9 22.8

Resu|tforthé per,od ....................................... e 3333 Result for the period _ _ s s

Total comprehenswe .............................................................................................................................................. Total comprehensive

result for the period - - -8.3 -8.3 result for the period - - -3.9 -3.9
Transactions with owners: Transactionswith owners:
Share issues based on stock options 53 - o1 - 01 Shareissues based on stock options 5.3 : o0 - 0.0
Purchase of treasury shares 53 - .. Ppurchaseoftreasury shares 5.3 :
Share-based payments 53 - S 05 05  Share-based payments 53 : N 04 04
Dividendspaid 53 - -~ . Dividends paid 5.3 :
Offering of shares 53 - g0 - 80  Offering of shares 5.3 : -
Costsofoffering of shares 53 - 03 - 03  Costsof offering of shares 5.3 : -

Equity at Dec 31, 2019 0.1 61.7 -38.9 22.8 Equity at Dec 31, 2020 0.1 61.7 -42.4 19.4

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EUR million Note 2020 2019 EUR million Note 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities . | . Cash flows from investing activities

peeewes se ooy penaequne R oo o0

Adustmentsfor: Payments of intangible assets . 4235 27
Depreciation, amortization and impairments 4.4 3.9 4.0 Net cash flows from investing activities -3.5 -2.7

Change in deferred revenue -0.1 -0.3 Cash flows from financing activities
...... Sharebasedpayments 53 04 05 Proceeds from issuance of shares, less costs 0.0 7.8
...... Otheradjustments 03 01 Repayment of long-term loans - 0.0
Financecosts,net 92 03  Repaymentofshort-term loans 0. :
""" Share of loss/(profit) from associates 02 02  Acquisition of treasury shares : :
Changesinworking capital: Dividends paid : :
""" Change in trade and other receivables 13 02 Leasepayments 12 12
Change in trade and other payables -0.3 -0.3 Other -0.1 -
Interests pa|d ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 5 6 ........................... - 01 --------------------------- - 01 Net cash used in financing activities -1.3 6.6
Interestsreceived s6 00 00
Income taxespa|d ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 6 3 ------------------------------- -------------------------- - 01 Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents -3.4 0.4
Net cash flows from operating activities 1.8 -3.6 Translation differences -0.3 0.1
S Cashandashequivalentsasof fanuaryt s 7 73
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 4.3 7.7

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO TH

1. Accounting
Principles

IN THIS SECTION

» Basis for Preparation

» Changes in Accounting Standards

» New Standards

» Principles of Consolidation

» Segments

» Accounting Estimates and Judgements

= CONSOLIDAT

1.1 BASIS FOR PREPARATION

These are the consolidated financial statements of
Next Games Oyj (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together “the Group” or “Next Games”). The shares of
Next Games Corporation are listed for trading on
Nasdaq Helsinki First North Finland. Next Games is a
developer and publisher of mobile games focusing on
licensed games. The Company's games are developed
for mobile devices and are available to download for
free, while players can make actual cash purchases of
in-game virtual items. The Company develops the
games in close cooperation with the owners of
immaterial property rights (the “IP”) to ensure a close
tie between the games and the underlying IP. The
most significant geographic markets for Next Games
are North America and Europe, and the games of the
Company are distributed through the Apple App Store
and the Google Play platforms. The Company is
domiciled in Helsinki at the registered address
Aleksanterinkatu 9A, Helsinki, Finland.

These Consolidated Financial Statements by Next
Games have been prepared in accordance with

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations
Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS as adopted by the European Union. The
notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements also
comply with the Finnish accounting and corporate
legislation complementing the IFRS standards.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared for the accounting period of 12 months from
January 1 to December 31, 2020. The Financial
Statements have been authorized for issue by The
Board of Directors March 11, 2021.

The Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements are
presented in millions of euros and are based on the
actual cost of the transactions, unless otherwise stated
in the accounting principles, and the figures have been
rounded from the exact figures. Therefore, the sum

of individual figures may deviate from the total
presented. Key figures have been calculated using
exact figures. Finance costs are recorded at the point
of transaction. Assets and liabilities are measured at

=D FINANCIAL STATEMENT

cost, except for certain financial assets and liabilities,
which are measured at fair value.

The Company's functional currency is euro, which is
also the presentation currency of the Company and
the Group. Items included in the financial statements
of each group subsidiary are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the subsidiary operates. Foreign currency
transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the
date of transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year end
exchange rates are generally recognized in income
statements. Next Games records foreign exchange
differences relating to ordinary business operations
within the appropriate line item above operating profit
and those relating to financial items are presented
separately in finance income and costs.
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1.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Next Games applies interpretations and standards
that came into force during the fiscal year to its
financial statements. No new standards were adopted
during 2020. Amendments to standards that came
into effect 2020 did not have a material effect on the
Group's results for the financial year, financial position
or the presentation of financial statements.

Next Games prematurely adopted IFRS 16 at the time
of conversion January 1, 2016, which came into effect
January 1, 2019.

In 2019 the Group changed its accounting policy
relating to the classification of development costs for
published products. Previously all game development
costs, both for published and unpublished games,
were reported under the Research and Development
function. In the future development activities relating
to published games are reported as part of the
Group's Marketing and Sales function, and only costs
related to unpublished games will be reported under
the Research and Development function. The
accounting policy change does not affect Group-level
revenues, EBIT, or balance sheet reporting. The
changes and effects have been published in a separate
bulletin and can be found from the Company's
website.

1.3 NEW STANDARDS

There are no standards that are not yet in effect, that
would be expected to have a material impact on the
entity in the current or future reporting periods and
on foreseeable future transactions.

1.4 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

These consolidated accounts include the parent
company and those companies in which the parent
company held, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of
the voting power control at the end of the accounting
period. In addition to these holdings, the consolidated
accounts include possible holdings that are of a
controlling-right nature. Next Games controls an entity
when Next Games is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which Next Games obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date such
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
eliminate intra-corporate shareholdings to account for
business combinations by Next Games. The
acquisition consideration, including deferred and
contingent consideration, as well as the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, is measured at
the acquisition date fair values. Acquisition-related
costs are accounted for as expenses in the period
which they are incurred. All intercompany
transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses
on transactions between group companies are
eliminated.

Investments in associates in which Next Games has a
significant influence but not control are accounted for
using the equity method. Significant influence usually
exists when the group holds over 20% of the voting
power of the entity or when the group otherwise has
significant influence but not control.

GROUP STRUCTURE

The Group’s business activities are run by the parent
company and the subsidiary had no material effect on
the financial development of the reporting period.

Subsidiary belonging to the Group as at December 31,
2020 is the following:
» Next Games GmbH, 100% owned

In addition the group had one Associated Company
that sought bankruptcy September 22, 2020.
» Armada Interactive Oy, 11.79% ownership

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Next Games had classified Armada Interactive Oy to
be an associated company of the Group. Next Games'
ownership of Armada Interactive Oy was 11.79%. In
addition, Next Games was represented on the board
of Armada Interactive Oy, deemed a triggering event
when determining significant influence on decision
making of Armada Interactive Oy. As a result of the
bankruptcy, the remaining balance of EUR -0.2 million
was written off from the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Company has no other associated companies.
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1.5 SEGMENTS

Next Games has determined that it has a single
operating segment ‘Mobile Gaming’ and as such its
profitability is presented as one single entity. Due to
the Company'’s business model and nature of
operations, governance is structured so that the CEO
is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM),
supported by the executive management. The CEO
looks at the Group on a consolidated basis when
evaluating financial performance and when making
decisions on resource allocation. Next Games CEO is
responsible for allocating resources of the Group and
continuous evaluation of the Group's results and
therefore its operations as a whole. Next Games' CEO
is regularly reviewing discrete financial information of
the Group. Financial information includes group level
revenue development, profitability analysis and review
of monthly cash flow changes.

1.6 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements
requires management to make estimates and
judgements that affect the application of accounting
policies and the recognized amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and
judgements are continually evaluated, they are based
on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations on future events that may have a
financial impact on the entity, thus the financial
statements, and that are believed to be reasonable
under given circumstances.

Estimates are reviewed if circumstances change, new
information or experience is gained that would alter
them. Due to the inherent uncertainty associated with
the estimates, the outcome may differ from estimates
that can result in additional revenue or costs in the
income statement.

Areas involving significant estimates, associated with
uncertainty are:

» Timing of revenue recognition (2.1)

» Deferred taxes (3.4)

» Impairment testing of goodwill (4.1)

» Measurement of intangible assets identified and
recognized in business combinations (4.2)

» Share-based payment arrangements (5.3)

In addition management applies judgement
concerning the following relevant accounting areas:
» Capitalization of development costs (4.2)

» Classification of durables (2.1)
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2. Operating Result

IN THIS SECTION

» Revenue
» Other Operating Income and Grants
» Cost and Expenses
» Cost of Revenue
» Research and Development Costs
» Sales and Marketing Costs
» Administrative Costs

2.1 REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with customers constitutes as
ordinary sales from business activities, and is
recognized when a customer obtains control of
promised services e.g the service requirement has
been fulfilled. The term “Gross bookings” is used as
industry standard terminology to describe purchase
behavior by players in a given period but does not
fulfill the requirements of IFRS 15 to be recognized as
revenue. Gross bookings are based on the virtual
currency and commodities purchased by a player in a
given period, as well as the consideration received for
displaying ads. Revenue is recorded in the Company’s
income statement.

Next Games generates revenue primarily through the
sale of virtual items to users (In Application Purchases,
IAP). Next Games also generates revenue from
in-game advertising (Ad Sales, ADS). Next Games
derives the vast majority of its revenue from
customers located in North America and Europe.
Revenues are split almost evenly between the two
platforms (iOS and Android) e.g. the main digital
storefronts: Apple App Store and Google Play Store.

INCOME FROM MAIN REVENUE STREAMS;
GAMES AS A SERVICE

Games as a service refers to a business model where
the Company’s games are available to download for
free to customers in digital storefronts, and the player
can enhance their own experience by watching ads, or
by purchasing the Company’s virtual products in the
game. In return, the Company maintains the service
and further develops the game by bringing new
content to the game. The maintenance of the service is
continuous, the Company's games have remained in
app stores for years.

1. Games: In Application Purchases from digital
storefronts

Next Games' customers (users) can purchase virtual
items to enhance and expand their game experience.
Next Games sells its products through digital
storefronts: Apple Appstore and Google play store.
Revenue share from digital storefronts “Platform Cut”
is presented as cost of revenue (2.3).

There are two different kinds of in-application
purchases in Next Games' games: consumables and

durables. Consumables benefit the user immediately,
while benefits from durables last across user lifetime
and are usually more expensive than consumables.

Consumables and durables can be bought directly or
indirectly via using virtual currency. Virtual currency
can only be redeemed for virtual items and cannot be
withdrawn. Virtual currency purchased in one of the
games cannot be used in another game.

2. Games: Advertising Revenues

Advertising revenues are generated by displaying
advertisements during gameplay. Advertising
networks pay CPM based (Cost Per Mille, cost per one
thousand shown impressions).

3. Games: Other Revenues

Next Games classifies revenues from other than
in-application-purchases and advertising as “Other”.
Revenues falling into this category is for example sales
from generating prototypes or income from the
production of other game related assets.
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DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

REVENUE BY CATEGORY OF ACTIVITY

Percentage of

Percentage of

EUR million 2020 revenue % 2019 revenue %
Revenue by Category of Activity 27.2 100% 34.7 100%
InApp Purchases (1AP) %2 os% 27 94%
Advertising (ADS) 5 s% 20 6%

During 2019 and 2020 there were no sales categorized as “other”
REVENUE BY PLATFORM
Percentage of Percentage of
EUR million 2020 revenue % 2019 revenue %
Revenue by Platform 27.2 100% 34.7 100%
dos 35 so% 74 50%
android 37 so% 74 50%
REVENUE BY REGION
Percentage of Percentage of
EUR million 2020 revenue % 2019 revenue %
Revenue by Region 27.2 100% 34.7 100%
‘North America B2 0% 67 48%
v 80 20% o7 28%
CFiland 02 w 03 1%
Other 5.8 21% 8.0 23%

Regional revenue is determined by the Customer’s loctation. Next Games' customer base consists of a large number of customers in several
market areas and no individual customer represents a material share of its sales.

T —————y

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Next Games utilizes a five step model framework in
revenue recognition. The Company identifies
contracts both between its players and between
advertising networks.

Identification of Contract. Next Games does not
recognize the initial download of its free to play
game from a digital storefront as a creation of
contract in accordance with IFRS 15, because of the
lack of commercial substance. As the initial
downloading of the game is free of charge, a
contract between Next Games and the customer
occurs as the separate election by the player to
make an in-application purchase. The consideration
promised in a contract with a customer may include
fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both.
Advertising revenues creates a contract between
Next Games and the advertising network, as the
consideration is paid is by the advertising network.

Identification of performance obligation. Games-
as-a-service business model encompasses a single
combined performance obligation which is to make
the game and the ongoing game related services
available. This is further defined as the provision of
ongoing game related services such as hosting of
game play, storage of customer content,
maintaining of virtual currency, continue displaying
and providing access to purchased virtual goods,
and reasonable service or content updates. For

advertising revenue, the performance obligation is
fulfilled after the advertisement has been shown.

Determination of transaction price. The
transaction price is the amount of consideration to
which Next Games expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or
services to a customer, excluding amounts collected
on behalf of third parties (for example, some sales
taxes). An alternative transaction price is the price
an advertiser is willing to pay per 1000 shown
impressions (eCPM).

Allocation of transaction price to the
performance obligation. In the games-as-a-service
business model, the transaction price is allocated
entirely to the single combined performance
obligation. Service obligation to a customer is
fulfilled at different points in time for different
products, and Next Games uses in accordance with
industry standards player life time estimates in
recognizing the point at which the service obligation
has been fulfilled.

When determining deferral periods Next Games
follows industry standards by applying Kaplan-Meier
survival model to estimate the average playing
period “lifetime” for paying users (customers). This
statistical model analyzes time duration until one or
more events happens and is commonly used in
various industries for estimating lifespans. The
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lifetime for each title is determined by analyzing the
historical behavior patterns of paying users. The
model requires classification of user data into active
and inactive monetizing users on a per title basis.
Active users are those who are active in the game
for the past rolling 14 days as of the evaluation
date. The remaining users are considered inactive
and deemed to have churned from the game. These
users are treated mathematically differently in the
model than those who are still active. A distribution
curve is then fit to the user data to estimate the
average playing period of paying users on a per title
basis. A threshold of 120 days from the commercial
launch of a title is deemed as the minimum number
of days of data required for this model. For new
titles with less than 120 days of data that share
similar attributes with an existing title and/or
prequel titles, the average playing period is
determined based on the average playing period of
that existing title or prequel title, as applicable.

Recognition of Revenue. Digital storefronts pay
Gross Bookings for the period on a monthly basis.
Next Games recognizes revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obligation by
transferring a promised good or service (i.e. an
asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when
(or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.
When (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
Next Games recognizes as revenue the amount of

the transaction price that is allocated to that
performance obligation.

When calculating revenue for the period, the
Company defers gross bookings generated from
virtual durable items to future periods based on the
estimated lifetime of the player, item or item group
in each game (“Deferred Revenue”). Unrecognized
revenue is booked on the balance sheet as an
advance received and is periodized on a straight line
basis to revenue based on the estimated lifetime.
Details on deferred revenues can be found in the
notes section 3.1. Consumables satisfy the
performance obligation “at a point in time” and are
recognized at the point of purchase.

Revenue from the sale of virtual currency is treated
as a prepayment, deferred and recognized when
the player uses the virtual currency to purchase a
virtual item. The turnover rate of the virtual
currency is calculated by comparing the amount of
virtual currency used in the game with purchased
virtual currency. The purchased virtual currency is
always used first. The remaining value of currency is
deferred to the balance sheet. Currency turnover of
both games is less than 30 days, and so the
Company has no virtual currency inventory on the
balance sheet. Used currency is recognized to
revenue based on the proportion of durables and
consumable items it has been used for.

Advertising revenue is recognized net, in the month
of impression delivered (“at a point in time"), based
on revenue reports from the ad network indicating
the number of impressions delivered, price per
impression and payables due to Next Games.
Simultaneously to sending the revenue report, the
advertisement network also commits to paying the
money to Next Games, and collection can be
reasonably assured.

DEFERRED REVENUE

Revenue recognition requires management to make
key judgements relating to the classification of
durable items. In identifying durable items the
economics of each individual game, as well as the
usage of customers (paying users) virtual currency
and durable products, is analyzed and considered.

In preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements, management is also required to make
estimates over what period of time revenue is to be
deferred. While management believes estimates to
be reasonable based on available game player
information, they contain risk and uncertainties.
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Next Games also defer Cost of Revenues that are
derived from contracts with customers. Deferred
Cost of Revenue includes platform cuts (revenue
shares paid to digital storefronts), license fees
(revenue share that is paid to license owners), and
server and hosting expenses (revenue shares paid
to technology providers).

KEY JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES AR .

Estimates are continuously and have historically
been revised when performance or user
characteristics change. Changes in estimates of the
player lifetime, or classification of what to defer in a
certain title may result in revenue being recognized
on a basis different from prior periods’ and may
cause operating results to fluctuate. Such events
may include serious technical problems causing
players being unable to access the game for a
period of time. Pandemics and other situations
hindering the capability of free movement may also
impact location based games.
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2.2 OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND GRANTS
Other operating income includes income other than
that associated with the sale of goods or services, such
as gain on disposal or sale of fixed assets, rental

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

income, grants and other similar income not classified
to revenue. Grants are directed to specific projects,
and are recognized when expenses occur.

EUR million 2020 2019
Profit on sale Intangible assets and of property, plant and equipment - 0.0
Subsidies and government grants 0.7 -
Other 0.0 0.0
Total 0.7 0.0

Most of Next Games' other operating income in 2020
consisted of grants awarded by Business Finland. The
grants are related to two different projects. The
smaller grant of EUR 0.1 million was a grant for
business disruption, which was used in its entirety for
the location based game The Walking Dead: Our
World. In order to ensure safe and easy playing during
movement restrictions, Free Roam (movement on the
map without physical movement) and story based
missions were introduced. The grant has been
received and accounted for in full.

The other conditional grant amounts to a total of
EUR 2.0 million. In 2020 the Company recorded

EUR 0.6 million in grant, of which EUR 0.3 million was
paid during 2020. The aim of the project is amongst
others to enhance game features, tailor in game
advertising and user acquisition via machine learning
and Al. During the project research will be conducted
to increase both learning and capabilities of Next
Games technology platform to support the use of Al
and machine learning. Goals of this projectis in line
with the Company's strategic focus area: Streamlining
operations and shortening game production times.
The duration of the project is at least until November
30, 2021. In total the Company recorded EUR 0.7
million in government grants, of which EUR 0.4 million
was paid during 2020.

2.3 COSTS AND EXPENSES

Next Games utilizes a function based income statement.
The Company identifies three functions: Research and
Development, Marketing and Sales as well as
Administration The Company allocates personnel to
each function based on the nature of work they
perform. Research and Development includes

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AN

COSTS AND EXPENSES

Directly attributable costs are allocated to each
function, and in addition to this a general cost
allocation is applied. Next Games calculates the
general cost allocation by summing together all generic
overhead not directly attributable to functions and
allocating this cost in proportion to each function’s
headcount. Share based payments are allocated in
proportion to the functions personnel expenses.

Research and Development. A significant portion
of the Group's Research and Development
expenditure is directly or indirectly related to the
development of new products, and business
models. Expenditure on research activities is
recognized as an expense in the period which it
incurred. Development expenses consist of salaries
and outsourced services. Depending on the nature
and phase of the development, relevant costs are
either treated as operational expenses or capital
expenditure, capitalized on the balance sheet and
amortized over time. For development activities, the
Company has generally identified the point in time
when a project moves to the production phase as
the moment when the criteria for capitalization is

personnel working on unreleased games as well as
those working on generic infrastructure development
such as technology. To Sales and Marketing, personnel
that work with published games are allocated, and
Administration includes personnel from finance, legal,
human resource and office management.

met, and therefore costs incurred after this moment
are capitalized. Costs incurred before the production
phase are treated as research expenditure, and
those are recognized in the income statement as an
expense when incurred. The Company capitalizes
employee expenses as well as relevant other and
general costs, directly attributable to the project. In
addition to the above mentioned items, the function
also includes depreciations, amortizations related to
research and development, share based payments
and a general cost allocation.

Marketing and Sales includes employee expenses
related to the promotion, further development and
maintenance of published games. Expenses related
to performance enhancing updates and general
maintenance updates for published games are not
capitalized. Sales and marketing falso includes
direct media buy and marketing expenses such as
user acquisition costs which are recorded at the
time of realization. The function also includes other
directly attributable expenses such as analytics and
tools required for maintenance. In addition to the
above mentioned items, the function also includes
depreciations, amortizations, share based payments
and a general cost allocation.
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Administration. Administrative costs are recorded
as expenses as they occur. Costs include employee
expenses, general cost allocation, as well as
outsourced services directly related to any
administrative department such as legal, finance
and human resources.

In addition to the above mentioned items, the
function also includes depreciations, amortizations,
share based payments and a general cost allocation.

Cost of Revenue are variable costs by nature,
recorded by using the accrual method.

COST OF REVENUE
EUR million 2020 2019
Platform commissions, royalties and other -11.8 -13.9
Amortizations of intangible assets -1.2 -1.2
Total -12.9 -15.0

Cost of Revenue includes platform cuts (revenue shares paid to digital storefronts), license fees (revenue share that is paid to license owners),
server and hosting expenses (revenue shares paid to technology providers) and amortisation of license acquisitions.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

EUR million 2020 2019
Personnel expenses -4.5 -4.3
outsourdng 08 05
Sharebased payments 02 03
General costallocation e 25
Total costs -7.0 -7.6
Depreciations 21 13
Capitalization 35 24
Total -5.6 -6.6
Percentage of revenue,%  21% 19%

Expenses allocated to Next Games' R&D function include all those generated directly by game, technology and analytics development. These

costs include employee expenses (wages, pensions, social security), outsourcing expenses, amortization, in addition to a general cost allocation.

SALES AND MARKETING COSTS

EUR million 2020 2019
Personnel expenses -2.3 -2.5
outsourcing 08 08
General costallocation a5 18
Salesand Marketingcosts 48 124
Total -9.5 -17.6
Percentage of revenue, % -35% -51%

Next Games' Sales and marketing expenses includes all expenses related to maintenance and further development of the groups published
games, including user acquisition and marketing purchases, employee expenses of the function, a general cost allocation and other marketing

related costs.

ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
EUR million 2020 2019
Personnel expenses -1.7 -1.3
Share-based payments o1 01
General costallocation 06 06
Otheradminexpenses .09 10
Total -3.2 -3.0
Percentage of revenue, % -12% -9%

The administrative function includes the Finance Department, Legal Department, general administration, human resources and management. In
addition, all the expenses related to the Company’s initial or subsequent public offerings, finance services and audit fees are deemed to be

administrative expenses.
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AUDIT FEES
EUR million 2020 2019
Audit of financial statements 0.1 0.1
Auditor statements . 0.0 . 0.0
Other services . 0.0 . 0.0
0.1 0.1

Audit fees are included in the Administrative expenses
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3. Operating Assets and Liabilities

IN THIS SECTION
» Deferred Revenue and Cost of Revenue
» Trade and Other Receivables

3.1 DEFERRED REVENUE AND COST OF REVENUE

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AR

DEFERRED REVENUE AND COST OF REVENUE

Deferral of revenue relates to the in-application
purchases of durable items, the sale of which are
recognized as revenue over time. Thus, deferred
revenue is defined as purchases made by players,
not yet recognized as revenue. Cost of revenue is

» Trade and Other Payables
» Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

periodized in accordance with how related revenue
is recognized over time. Deferred revenue may also
contain prepayments from ad revenue. For
additional details related to revenue recognition,
see note 2.1 Revenue Recognition.

DEFERRED REVENUE

EUR million 2020 2019
Deferred revenue Jan 1 1.0 1.5
Released to the statement of profit or loss -1.0 -1.5
Deferred during the year 1.2 1.0
Deferred revenueDec31 12 1.0

DEFERRED COST OF REVENUE

EUR million 2020 2019
Deferred cost of revenue Jan 1 0.4 0.6
Recognized as an expense during the year -0.4 -0.6
Deferred during the year 0.3 0.4
Deferred cost of revenue Dec 31 0.3 0.4
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3.2 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables represent amounts the Group expects to income and other receivables, are payments made EUR million Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
collect from other parties in the ordinary course of during this or previous financial years, for expenses .
) P ) ] y i & ) P ) y P i Trade and other receivables
business. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing yet to be incurred in the fULUre 0N an @CCrual Dasis OF oo L el e :
and are generally on terms of 30 to 90 days. Accrued in a manner equivalent to the accrual basis. Traderecewables ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 15 ___________________________ 29 _
Prepayments and accrued income 2.3 2.2
Other current receivables 0.1 0.2
A CCOUNTING PRINCIPLES . —— 2o s
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES :
) ) ) ) ) ) Material items under prepaid expenses
Accounts receivable are recognized when the right credit loss risk. Major counterparts, such as Apple, pp ---------- p ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- .
to consideration becomes unconditional and are Google, and Unity have not been found to be _Receivables from licensing agreements 4 1.3
recognized initially at fair value and subsequently associated with significant credit loss risk, based on ltems relating to purchases (including revenue deferral receivables) 0.3 0.4
according to the business model at amortized costs. the counterparty’s credit rating, historical payment 7w e A o
) L . . . Marketing campaign accruals 0.3 0.4
The Group's policy is to recognize a provision for behavior and the short term of payment .
trade receivables which have been found to involve (approximately 30 days) of the receivables. Other 0.3 0.1
................................................................................................................................................................................ TOtaI 2.3 2 2
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Material items under other current receivables
EUR million Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019 VAT receivables 0.1 0.2
_Rentguarantees .04 04 Other current receivables 0.0 0.0
Receivables from licensing agreements 0.3 0.7 Total 0.1 0.2
Other non-current assets 0.3 -
Total 11 11 Next Games has not had any past due trade or other receivables at each period reported.
Long-term debtors balance consist mainly of the Company’s security deposits, related to leasing agreements, as well as receivables for license
agreements.
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3.3 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for payables are non-interest bearing and generally have EUR million Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
goods and s.erV|c'es prowdesj to Next Games prior to a 30-90 day payment term. Trade and other payables
the end of financial year which are unpaid. Trade e e :
Trade payables 2.0 3.7
............................................................................................................................... . Accruals and deferred income 3.4 2.2
ACCOUNTING PRINCIP LS /LI LR EER RIS -
Other current liabilities 0.2 0.1
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES Deferred revenue 1.2 1.0
Trade payables are recognized according to the after the reporting period. They are recognized Total 6.8 7.0
invoiced amount. This is considered to correspond initially at their fair value and subsequently T
to fair value due to their short maturity. Trade and measured at amortized cost USING the ffECtiVe o L :
other payables are presented as current liabilities interest method. Materlal|temsunderaccruals ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
............................................................................................................................................................................... Accrued interests 0.0 0.0
Other liabilities 1.7 1.2
Total 34 2.2
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3.4 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES TAX LOSSES:
Next Games has evaluated the nature and the same taxing authority are netted. The deferred tax DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
classification of deferred tax assets. Based on the assets and liabilities are shown net on the balance .
evaluation, deferred tax assets and liabilities levied by sheet. EUR million Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
Confirmed losses, unrecognized tax assets 35.5 33.1
................................................................................................................................ . Conﬂrmed |Osses on the basis Of Wthh a tax asset has been recognized 14.3 14.3
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES /2
Total tax losses 49.8 47.4
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Deferred tax is calculated based on temporary can be utilized against future taxable profits. Recogmzed deferredtaxasset """"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" 2 8 """""""""""""""" 2 8 "
differences between carrying amounts and taxable Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws T
value of assets and liabilities and for tax loss carry- that have been enacted or substantially enacted by Unrecognlzeddeferred taxassets .......................................................................................... 71 ........................ 66 .
forwards to the extent that it is probable that these the end of the reporting period. Total tax assets 9.9 9.4

KEY JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES AR .

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES circumstances will alter expectations, which may
Management judgement is required in assessing impact the amount of deferred tax assets and
whether certain deferred tax assets and deferred deferred tax liabilities recognized on the balance

tax liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only where it is
considered probable that they will be recovered,
which is dependent on the generation of sufficient
future taxable profits. Assumptions about the
generation of future taxable profits depend on
management'’s estimates of future cash flows.
Estimates of these future cash flows are dependent
on the management's estimates that relate among
others to the amount of future net sales, operating
costs, finance costs and taxes. The Group's ability to
generate taxable income depends also on factors
related to general economy, finance, competitiveness
and regulations that the Group is unable to control.
These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk
and uncertainty, hence it is possible that changes in

sheet and the amount of temporary differences.

Management has decided not to recognize deferred
tax assets for losses incurred after September 2017,
but management estimates that deferred tax assets
recognized for previously accumulated losses will be
available for use to offset future profits. In 2020, no

new deferred tax assets were recognized.

Losses, for the use of which is uncertain and
therefore no deferred tax asset has been
recognized, amounted to EUR 35.5 (33.1) million in
2020, including estimates of the tax losses during
the reporting period. These losses will expire at
various times by the end of 2030.
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EUR million Jan 1, 2019 Change Dec 31, 2019 EUR million Jan 1, 2020 Change Dec 31, 2020

2019 2020

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax assets

Tax losses 2.8 - 2.8 Tax losses 2.8 - 2.8

IPO cost recognition 0.2 -0.2 0.0 PO cost recognition 0.0 -0.0 0.0

Other items 0.0 0.0 0.0 Other items 0.0 - 0.0

Total 341 -0.2 29 Total 2.9 -0.0 29
Deferred tax liabilities Deferred tax liabilities
Capitalized intangible assets 5 02 17 Capitalized intangible assets 17 03 15
AccumulateddepreC|at|ond|fferences ----------------------------------------------------- 00 .......................... ...................... OO | Accumulated depreciation differences 0.0 - 0.0
Otheritems 00 00 00 Otheritems 0.0 : 0.0
Total 5 02 17 Total v 03 15
Deferred tax assets,net 16 04 12 Deferred tax assets,net - 12 02 15
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4. Acquisitions and Capital Expenditure

e IMPAIRMENT OF assETs R .

IN THIS SECTION
GOODWILL
» Goodwill . ) ) ) ) .
Intangible Assets Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or more beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
»
Tangible Assets frequently if events or changes in circumstances the estimated growth rates stated below.
»
i L indicate that goodwill might be impaired. For the Calculations are based on internal targets in
» Depreciation and Amortization . . . S L L .
: : purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated addition to historical performance. Discount rate
et ettt e e . to the Group's cash generatlng unlt (CGU)' Next used |S the Weighted average cost Of Capltal (WACC)-
Games management has evaluated that the Group The discount rates reflect current assessments of
4.1 GOODWILL consists of one cash generating unit, and therefore, the time value of money with relevant market risk
............................................................................................................................ ) goodwill is tested for impairment at the Group level. premiums reflecting risks and uncertainties specific
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES In assessing the recoverable amount, estimated in Next Games business and the industry as a whole
future cash flows are discounted to their present for which the future cash flow estimates have not
GOODWILL value. Cash flow estimates are based on operative been adjusted. Any impairment loss of goodwill is
Goodwill represents the consideration Next Games indefinite useful life. At the time of acquisition, managerial estimates for future growth in net sales recognized immediately as an expense and is not
has paid when acquiring a business in excess of the goodwill is allocated to those cash generating units and EBITDA over a five year period. Cash flows subsequently reversed.
fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired. which are considered to benefit from the
Goodwillis carried at cost less any accumulated aCqUISItion. GooWIll IS NOESUBJeCt to annual
impairment losses and is considered as having an amortisation.

KEY JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES .

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Impairment testing of goodwill requires estimation for impairment testing purposes defined as

and judgment in determining the components of earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation
the recoverable amount calculation, including the and amortization) as well as the general
discount rate, the terminal growth rate and development of the industry.

development of the net sales and EBITDA (which is
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....................................................................................................................................................... .

GOODWILL ALLOCATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the Group
level. Next Games' management has done an
impairment testing of goodwill at the Group level
annually based on the situation on December 31,
2020. Pre-tax discount rate used in the testing was
19.3% (20.7%) and the long term growth rate was
2.0% (2.0%). Based on the impairment testing of
goodwill, the probability for impairment losses was
very low for repoting periods 2020 and 2019.

GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

The impairment testing process includes a
sensitivity analysis in which key estimates used in
the cash flow estimates were changed. In addition,
management has assessed that no reasonably
possible change in a key assumption of the
impairment calculations would have resulted in a
goodwill impairment. A summary of the balance
sheet values of goodwill and the discount rates
used are presented below.

EUR million 2020 2019
Carrying amount Jan 1 3.3 3.3
CAcquisitions y .
Carrying amount Dec 31 3.3 3.3

4.2 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Next Games intangible assets consist mainly of
acquired game licenses, and capitalized development
costs. Intangible assets also include patents,

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AN

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets acquired
separately are measured on initial recognition at
cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is their fair value at the date
of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of
each reporting period, or whenever there is an
indication a change may have occurred. Changes in
the expected useful life are considered to modify
either the amortisation period or method. The
amortisation of the intangible assets with finite lives
is recognized in the statement of profit or loss in the
expense category that is consistent with the
function of the intangible assets. The group
amortized intangible assets with a finite useful life
using the straight-line method. Estimated useful
lives of intangible assets with finite lives are as
follows:

trademarks and software licenses. The Group does not
currently hold intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives. Details on goodwill can be found in notes 4.1.

» IT-software, 3 years
» Capitalized development costs, 3-5 years
»  Other intangible assets, 3-5 years

Costs related to an intangible asset are capitalized
only if it can be demonstrated that the asset will
generate future economic benefit, the Group
controls the asset in question, there are enough
financial, technical and other resources available to
complete the asset, and the cost of the asset can be
measured reliably. All other expenditure is recognized
as an expense incurred. Further information on the
capitalization of development expenditure can be
found in the notes in section 2.3.

Capitalized development costs are recorded as
intangible assets and amortized from the point at
which the asset is ready for use and generates an
economic benefit. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the statement of
profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.
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................................................................................................................................................. . INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Capitalized Other
development intangible
INTANGIBLE ASSETS EUR million Goodwill costs assets Total
Intangible assets are tested for impairment intangible assets than goodwill that suffered an 2019
whenever events or changes in circumstances impairment are reviewed fOr POSSIDIE reversal Of s :
indicate that the carrying amount may not be the impairment at the end of each reporting period. Acqwsmon cost as ofjan1 ______________________________ 33 ___________________________ 7 5 __________________________ 46 ......................... 155 .
recoverable. For the purposes of assessing An impairment loss previously recognized in the Transactions - - - -
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels income statement is reversed if there has been a additons 24 03 """""""""""""""" 57
for which there are separately identifiable cash significant change in the @STIMAtES USEA 1O i :
inflows which are largely independent of the cash determine the recoverable amount. However, the Translatlondlfferences __________________________________________ i . 0 0 ___________________________ 0 0 _
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash value after reversal of the impairment shall not Decreases - - - -
generating units). An impairment loss is recognized exceed the value that the asset would have had Ach|5|t|oncostasofDec31 """""""""""""" 33 99 50 """"""""""""" 1 82 '
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying without the accumulated depreciation Of PrEVIOUS v :
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The years. Principles related to impairment of goodwill Accumulated depreciation and
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair are disclosed in notes 4.1. |mpa|rmentJan 1 _____________________________________________________________________________ 06 __________________________ B 12 __________________________ 18 )
value less costs of disposal and value in use. Other Depreciation - -1.2 -1.3 -2.5
................................................................................................................................................................................ Translation differences - - - -
Impairment losses - - - -
........................................................................................................... . _ Accumu | .a_‘ ted deprec|at|on _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ _
and impairment Dec 31 - -1.7 -2.5 -4.3
CAPITALIZATION OF DEVELOPMENT COSTS e i
Net book value as of Jan 1 3.3 6.9 3.4 13.7
The Group capitalizes development costs for a technological and economic feasibility iS CONFIrMEd, s e :
project in accordance with its accounting principles usually when a product development project has Netbookvalueas °f Dec31 _____________________________ 33 ___________________________ 8 1 ___________________________ 24 ......................... 139 .
disclosed in notes 2.3. Initial capitalization of costs is reached a defined milestone according to an
based on management’s judgment that established project management model.
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Capitalized Other 4.3 TANGIBLE ASSETS
development intangible Next Games tangible assets mainly include buildings: and machinery and equipment. Other tangible assets

EUR million Goodwill costs assets Total a right of use asset for a leased office facility, items are not significant.

2020 leasehold improvements related to that office facility,

Acquisition cost as of Jan 1 3.3 9.9 5.0 18.2

Trameactions ) ) ) ) ACCOUNTING PRINGIPLES | R .

Additions - 3.5 0.4 4.0
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" TANGIBLE ASSETS

Translation differences - - - - ) o ] ) )
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Tangible assets are measured at cost less Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis
Decreases - - . " accumulated depreciation and any impairment over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Acquisition cost as of Dec 31 3.3 13.4 5.4 221 losses, if applicable. Applicable borrowing costs Residual values and expected useful lives are
"""""""""""""""""" T directly attributable to the acquisition, construction reassessed at least at each financial year-end and, if

Accumulated depreciation and ducti ; i talized di q f h in th

impairment Jan 1 i 17 25 43 or production of a qualifying ass.et are capitalized as necessary, are adjuste t.o re ec‘F changes |r1 the
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- part of the cost of that asset. Gains and losses on expected future economic benefits. The estimated
Depreciaton T Az 43 2.4 sales and disposals of items of property, plant, and useful lives are as follows:

Translation differences - - - = equipment are presented under other operating

Impairment losses i i i i income and other operating expense§ respectively. » Bu|ld|.ngs
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- The subsequent costs related to tangible assets are »  Right of use asset, 2-5 years

Accu-mula'ted depreciation capitalized only if the future economic benefits » Leasehold improvements of buildings,
andlmpalrmentDec 31 ___________________________________ 33 _________________________ 29 _________________________ 38 67 _ exceed the originally assessed level of performance. 2-5years

Net book value as of Jan 1 3.3 8.1 2.4 13.9 All other expenditure on repairs and maintenance »  Machinery and Equipment, 3-5 years

Net book value as of Dec 31 3.3 10.5 1.5 15.4 fthang|bIe assets is recognized as expense when
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ incurred.
Other intangible assets consist of licensing agreements, IT software and trademarks.
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TANGIBLE ASSETS
Machinery and Machinery and
EUR million Buildings equipment Total EUR million Buildings equipment Total
2019 2020
Acquisition cost as of Jan 1 8.0 0.6 86  Acquisitioncostasofjan1 8.0 0.6 8.6
Additions 0.0 : 00 Additons o1 - I 0.1
Business combinations - - - Business combinations - - =
Disposals and other changes -0.0 - -0.0 Disposals and other changes - - -
Acquisition cost as of Dec 31 8.0 0.6 86  AcquisitioncostasofDec31 g1 06 87
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at Jan 1 16 0.3 48  Accumulated depreciation and impairmentatjan1 29 04 3.3
Depreciation 1.4 01 45 Deprecaton a4 o1 15
Impairment - - - Impalrment ------------------------ - - =
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at Dec 31 2.9 0.4 33 Accumulated depreciation and impairment at Dec31 43 05 48
Net book value as of Jan 1 6.4 0.3 67  Netbookvalueasoffani 54 02 5.3
Net book value as of Dec 31 5.1 0.2 53  NetbookvalueasofDec31 38 01 39
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4.4 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

EUR million 2020 2019
Accumulated amortizations 2.4 -2.5
Accumulated depreciations 215 [ 15
Total -3.9 -4.0
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5. Group Capital and Risks

IN THIS SECTION

»

»

»

»

»

»

»

»

Capital Risk Management
Financial Risk Management
Shareholder's Equity

Net Debt and Borrowings
Leasing

Finance Income and Expenses
Employee Benefits

Cash and Cash Equivalents

5.1 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The purpose of capital management for the Group is
to secure ongoing operations during varied market
conditions and to support long term strategic
development. This is achieved by guaranteeing access
to internally generated funds, and the ability to when
necessary transfer assets to value creating
investments, in addition to guarantee access to
external funds (debt or equity) timely and at a
reasonable cost. In order to secure access to
necessary funding Next Games follows and monitors
approved guidelines such as the external funding for
the Group is controlled by the parent company within
the limits of the Treasury policy, the balance of short
and long term debt must be within approved
guidelines. The aim is to keep the Group's solidity
above 50%. The Group should not be dependent on
only one source of financing but have several
counterparties. Next Games monitors its capital based
on gearing (the ratio of interest-bearing net liabilities
to equity). Interest bearing net liabilities consist of the
loans less cash and cash equivalents. The current level
of gearing is distinctly lower than the limit determined
by the Board of Directors. During business cycles, net
gearing is likely to fluctuate but the overall objective is
to retain a sufficient strong capital structure to secure
the Group's financing needs. The Board of Directors
monitor the Group's capital structure regularly.

NET DEBT
EUR million Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
Cash and cash equivalents 4.3 7.7
Loans- repayable withinoneyear 12 12
Loans- repayable after one year 27 37
Net debt 0.4 2.7
Cash and cash equivalents 4.3 7.7
Gross debt - fixed interest rates -3.9 -4.9
Net debt 0.4 2.7
CHANGE IN NET DEBT Borrow- Borrow-
Leases due Leases ings due ings due
within due after within within
EUR million Cash 1 year 1 year 1 year 1 year Total
Net debt as of Jan 1%, 2019 7.3 -1.0 -41 -0.2 -0.5 1.4
“Cashflows 03 . - 03
Acquisitions -finance leases
and lease incentives - 1.2 - - - 1.2
Foreign exchange adjustments 0.1 - - - - 0.1
Other changes - -1.2 0.9 0.0 0.0 -0.3
Net debt as of Dec 31+, 2019 7.7 -1.0 -3.2 -0.2 -0.5 2.7
Net debt as of Jan 1, 2020 7.7 -1.0 -3.2 -0.2 -0.5 2.7
Cash flows -3.0 - - - - -3.0
Acquisitions - finance leases
and lease incentives - 1.2 - - - 1.2
Foreign exchange adjustments 0.3 - - 03
Otherchanges - 13 0 o1 00 02
Net debt as of Dec 31%, 2020 ER 21 01 05 04
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5.2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The aim of the financial risk management is to secure
the business operation’s profitability and continuity of
identifying, and controlling of financial risks and
protection from relevant financial risks when needed.
Next Games Corporation’s financial risk management
has been carried out by the Management team. The
Group Management team consists of the CEO and
other C-level management (CFO, CTO, CPCO, CMO,
CGO), and has been operating under guidelines
provided by the Board of Directors. Internal control is
done by the Finance Department. The overall objective
of the Group's Treasury policy is to protect equity and
future profits to be affected from unpredictability in
the financial markets. For the purpose of this policy
only risk with both uncertainty of events and
exposure, should be mitigated. Furthermore, the
objective is to attempt to secure access to liquidity and
financing at all times, to a reasonable cost.

MARKET RISK

Market risk is defined as risk related to a change in
value of financial instruments or future cash flows due
to market price fluctuations. Key market risks for the
Group relates to foreign exchange risk, interest rates,
and price risk in relation to user acquisition.

1. Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates globally and is exposed to transaction
and translation foreign exchange risks. The major
currency to which Next Games Corporation is exposed
to is the United States Dollar. The objective of foreign
exchange risk management is to mitigate adverse
impacts from foreign exchange fluctuations on the
Group profitability and cash flows. Transaction risk
arises from foreign currency denominated assets and

liabilities together with foreign currency denominated
future cash flows. Significant exposure related to
transactions can be hedged under the treasury policy.
The Group holds USD in currency accounts.
Transaction risk occurs when converting balances
from foreign currency accounts into the base currency.

EFFECT OF FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS IN
FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

EUR million 2020 2019
Exchange rate gain 0.0 0.1
CExchangerateloss 03 0.0
Total -0.3 0.1

2. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is defined as the uncertainty of Next
Games Corporations value, profit and loss due to
changes in interest rates. The objective of interest rate
risk management is to minimize the impact of
fluctuations arising from interest rate changes on the
Group's profit. The Group is exposed to interest rate
risk through its interest-bearing loans (excluding
financial leases). During the reporting period market
interest rate has been below 4%, in combination with
low amounts of outstanding interest-bearing loans,
interest rate risk is currently not significant. The company
had a Danske Bank overdraft limit of EUR 3.0 million
(interest 1-month Euribor +2.5%) valid until June 2020.

INTEREST RATE RISK AND NOMINAL VALUES ON
LOANS

EUR million 2020 2019
Business Finland,

1% interest 0.7 0.8
Total 0.7 0.8

3. Risk related to User Acquisition

User acquisition costs have significantly increased
during the past three years as the growth of the
industry is no longer based on a rising number of
players, and there is a growing number of games
competing for the same audience segment.

Competition in digital marketing channels has
toughened as there is an increasing number of
advertisers buying media through the same channels.
The advertising market is dominated by a handful of
large companies, such as Facebook and Google, and it
seems their position will only continue to strengthen.
The lack of competition and the lack of transparency in
the advertising functionality offered by these
platforms affect user acquisition pricing.

For example, advertising prices on Facebook in North
America have risen 200% from 2016 to 2019. The cost
is being paid by advertisers, such as mobile games
companies. This unpredictable price increase can
affect Next Games profitability for current games, as
well as influence requirements towards future game
performance (ARPDAU, retention). Though Next
Games cannot directly influence or control prices, the
Company aims to tackle increasing user acquisition
prices by its license strategy. The License strategy both
enables use of alternative marketing methods and
channels, in addition to increasing the probability of
players to organically find a game. Both methods can
decrease the total price of acquiring players.

Possible restrictions on targeted advertising are typical
in the mobile games market and changes in
advertising, and thus user acquisition, are constant.
Apple’s decision to restrict sharing of IDFA data in

connection with its new i0OS14 update is one such
relevant restriction. IDFA is user-specific information
that enables advertising services, such as Facebook, to
allow advertisers to precisely target ads. Disabling or
restricting IDFA would prevent advertisers, such as
gaming companies, from targeting user acquisition as
precisely as before. This modification has prompted
concerns in the market about the future profitability of
advertising. As a result of the IDFA change, the
Company expects Google, Facebook and other
advertisers to possibly implement major changes in
the future. While the full impact of the IDFA change is
still difficult to predict, Next Games believes its
marketing strategy will work well in the future.

CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY RISK

The objective of the Group's credit risk management is
to minimize losses in the event one of the Group's
counterparties fails to meet its obligation. The Group’s
finance department is responsible for managing credit
and counterparty risk. Next Games is exposed to
counterparty risk through its accounts receivables: To
ad networks in relation to advertising revenue, and to
digital storefronts for revenues related to in
application purchases. The Group has concentration
risk in accounts receivables through two large
counterparties, Apple and Google. Other receivables
are divided amongst ad networks. As at December 31,
2020, Apple and Google represent 100% of entities
accounts receivables. In order to mitigate credit and
counterparty risk the Group uses different measures
to mitigate it such as clearance of all counterparties,
thorough credit reviews for any new customers,
through advance payments and regular monitoring of
customers payment behavior. In turn, Next Games has
exposure against these platforms in terms of payables

NEXT GAMES / BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020



N

from player acquisition activities. At year end any
impairment of receivables from material customers is
analyzed individually based on their probability of
default and loss given default at the reporting date. In
addition, minor receivables with similar credit
characteristics are grouped and assessed together for
impairment. Next Games’ major counterparties, such
as Apple, Google, and Unity have not been found to be

CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY IMPAIRMENT
EUR million

associated with significant credit risk or significant
increase in credit risk since issuance of the receivable,
based on the counterparty’s credit rating, historical
payment behavior and the short-term (ca. 30 days)
nature of these receivables. Next Games continuously
assesses credit and counterparty risk, as at December
31, 2020 no significant credit risk has been associated
with its partners.

At January 1

LIQUIDITY RISK

The focus of liquidity management is to safeguard
Next Games ability to meet short term obligations and
to ensure that the liquidity always is used in the most
optimal manner. Furthermore, liquidity management
should aim to achieve acceptable returns on surplus
liquidity, and to safeguard against negative interest
rates within the limits of the Group's risk policy. In
order to achieve the most optimal cash management,

2020 2019
0.0 0.0

- 0.0

- 0.0

0.0 0.0

the entity monitors liquidity position and follows
approved group guidelines to maintain a sufficient
liquidity level. As at December 31, 2020 Next Games
cash and cash equivalents totaled EUR 4.3 million. The
following tables present the entity’s financial liabilities
classified into relevant maturity groupings based on
their contractual maturities for all non-derivative
financial liabilities.

MATURITY OF FINANCIAL LOANS

4-12 Over
EUR million 1-3 months months 1-5 years 5years Total
December 31+, 2019
Non-current governmental agencyloan o1 02 04 . 07
Tradepayables 37 - . 37
Leaseliabilites 02 07 32 . a1
December 31, 2020
Non-current governmental agency loan - 0.1 0.5 - 0.6
Trade payables 2.0 - - - 2.0
Lease liabilities 0.3 0.8 2.1 - 3.2
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5.3 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Next Games Oyj's share capital, paid in its entirety and

registered in the trade register was 0.1 million euros
2020 (0.1 million euros 2019). The Company has one

27,985,988 shares outstanding (27,916,224 in 2019).
Each share entitles its shareholder to one (1) vote in
the general meeting and shares have equal rights to

UNRESTRICTED EQUITY

All shares subscribed for with option-rights, rights offering and payments totaling 19,059.48 euros in 2020, have in
its entirety been recorded to the Company's unrestricted equity, and the Company’s equity did not change due to this.

class of shares. Shares have no nominal value. At the dividends. The Company holds 13,410 (13,410) EUR million 2020 2019
end of the financial period 2020 the Company had treasury shares. Share issues based on stock options 0.0 01
RETAINED EARNINGS Offering of shares = 8.0
EUR million 2020 2019 Costs of offering of shares - -0.3
At January 1 -38.9 -31.1 Total 0.0 7.8
Profit (loss) for the year -3.9 -8.3
Dividends paid - - Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit share except including the impact of any potential
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" attributable to owners of the parent company by the commitments the Group has to issue shares in the
Share-based payments 0.4 0.5 .I , W P ) pany by I up I ) . I )
weighted average number of ordinary shares future. Next Games has stock option plans, which are
AtDecembersr -424  -389 outstanding during the financial year and excluding explained in more detail in the section 5.3. Share-
treasury shares. Diluted earnings per share is based payments.
SHARE AND SHARE ISSUANCE calculated on the same basis as basic earnings per
In 2020 69,764 (114,480) shares were subscribed for EARNINGS PER SHARE
with option-rights. During 2019, Next Games 2020 2019
conducted a rights issue totaling 9,298,430 shares. Profit operations attributable to the owners of the Company
(EUR million) -3.9 -8.3
SHARE SUBSCRIPTIONS R SRR e RS -
Shares 2020 2019 Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period | 27944968 ... 20,346,171
Share subscriptions by option rights 69,764 114,480 Diluted and non-diluted earnings per share (EUR) -0 041
Rights offering - 9,298,430 Dilution impact is not taken into account in 2020 and 2019 because the effect is anti-dilutive (ie. It would decrease loss per share).
Number of shares 27,985,988 27,916,224

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTABLE EQUITY

At December 31, 2020, the parent company’s
distributable equity totaled EUR 7.5 million, of which
EUR -6.4 million consisted of a loss for the financial
year 2020. The Board of Directors proposes to the
Annual General Meeting that no dividend be

distributed for the financial year 2020. The general
meeting resolved not to distribute any dividend for the
financial year ended December 31, 2019. The report of
the Board of Directors is signed before it is presented
to the Annual General Meeting.
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DISTRIBUTABLE EQUITY

EUR million 2020 2019
Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 61.4 61.4
Retained earnings (loss) a6 381
Profit (loss) for the financial year 64 95
Retained earnings, total 7.5 13.8
Total 75 13.8

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Next Games has five share-based incentive schemes:
Equity Plan 2015, Equity Plan 2017, Equity Plan 2018,
Equity Plan 2019 and Equity Plan 2020. All of Next
Games employees, whose probation period ended by
the end of 2020 are option holders. The Company
intends to continue granting options to all new
employees at the end of their probation period as a
long-term incentive. Unless otherwise decided by the
Board of Directors, option rights are issued to
recipients free of charge, and the subscription price
for the shares is defined in each Equity Plan.

For the Equity Plan 2015, individual terms and
conditions are applied to the subscription period for
each eligible employee.

For the Equity Plan 2017 a subscription period where
25% of the option rights entitle to share subscription
exactly one year following the grant, and the
remaining 75% of the option rights entitle to share
subscription in regular monthly installments over a
period of 36 months from the date when exactly one
year has passed since the option grant is applied.

For the Equity Plans 2018-2020 a subscription period
where the option rights entitle to share subscription in

annual installments of 25% each, starting from one full
year following the grant date is applied. The options
are granted in multiple batches, and for each batch
the Board of Directors decides on the subscription
price. Therefore, there are multiple different
subscription prices inside these Equity Plans.

In all instances, the right to share subscription
requires that the recipient of the option rights is
continually in service with Next Games as an
employee, consultant, member of the management
team or member of the Board of Directors. If a
recipient’s service relationship with Next Games
ceases for any reason, all unexercised option rights
that do not yet entitle to share subscription
automatically terminate and are forfeited to the
Company without separate compensation. If a
recipient whose service relationship with Next Games
has terminated holds option rights that entitle to
share subscription, he or she is entitled to exercise
such option rights within 30 days from the date of
termination, at which point the option rights that
remain unexercised automatically terminate and are
forfeited to the Company without separate
compensation.

Equity Plans 2017-2020 are published after the split of
the share, and for these Equity Plans the shares can be
subscribed for at the ratio of 1:1. Previous Equity Plans
were published before the split of the share, and for
these plans the shares can be subscribed for at the
ratio of 4:1, meaning that one (1) option right entitles
to the subscription of four (4) shares. The Company
can grant options to the current or future employees
of the Company or its subsidiaries, external
consultants, management and the members of the

T ——————

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Employees and key staff employed by Next Games
are entitled to receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments
(equity-settled transactions). The cost of equity-
settled transactions is determined by the fair value
at the date when the grant is made using an
appropriate valuation model, Black-Scholes. That
cost is recognized in employee benefits expense,
together with a corresponding increase in equity
(retained earnings) over the period in which the
service and, where applicable, the performance
conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). The
cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The expense or credit in the statement of
comprehensive income for a period represents the
movement in cumulative expense recognized as at

Board of Directors. Granting of options requires the
decision of the Board of Directors in every instance.
The Company is planning to commit each full-time
employee to the Company via the Equity Plans.

Next Games has used its own shares for business
transactions, such as license acquisition deals and
business acquisitions. Expenses for the post-
combination compensation element of transactions
have been recorded over a vesting period of two years.

the beginning and end of that period. Service
conditions are not taken into account when
determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. No expense is recognized for awards that do
not ultimately vest because service conditions have
not been met. When the terms of an equity-settled
award are modified, the minimum expense
recognized is the grant date fair value of the
unmodified award, provided the original terms of
the award are met. An additional expense, measured
as at the date of modification, is recognized for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee. Where an award is
cancelled by the entity or by the counterparty, any
remaining element of the fair value of the award is
expensed immediately through statement of
comprehensive income.
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CHANGE IN OUTSTANDING STOCK OPTIONS

KEY JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES AR .

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

CHANGES DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD 2019

Jan 1, 2019 Dec 31, 2019

Next Games uses the Black-Scholes pricing model to value share-based payments. All parameters used in the Outstand- Outstand-

calculation are presented in the tables below. The fair value of Next Games' shares prior to the IPO was Equity ing number ing number

determined by an independent third party. plan of options Granted  Redeemed Exercised Expired Forfeited  of options

............................................................................................................................................................................... 2014 32,433 - - -22,856 -9,014 -563 -
OPTION PRICING MODEL 2005 16189 . S 202 L0 94294

Issued during 2020 Issued during 2019 2017 307,369 270,391 i} i} i} 369,327 208,433

Equity plan 2020 2019 201782018 2018 355,500 711,500  -562,094 . . - 504,906

Jalatonmodel e R Hrasdiols Black-choles Black-scholes 2019 . 835,376 . . . . 835,376

JJairvalueat Dec31 e N 088 0.78¢ . . Total 851,491 1,817,267  -562,094 -43,121 9,014  -411,520 1,643,009
Expected volatility 79% 42% 31%

Share price at the valuation date 1.15€ 1.47€ 1.78€

CHANGES DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD 2020

period 1.52€ 1.27€ 1.27€ Jan 1, 2020 Dec 31, 2020
"""""" AU A Outstand- Outstand-
EXerdse price s . e 14 : Equity ing number ing number

Expected dividend yield -€ -€ -€ plan of options Granted  Redeemed Exercised Expired Forfeited of options

Risk free interest rate -0.32% -0.22% -0.17% 2005 94,294 - -4 - /82 82,881

Forfeiture rate 12% 12% 12% 2017 208,433 - - -141 - -48,429 159,863
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 2018 504,906 - - -3,750 - -92,698 408,458

2019 835,376 - - - - -58,396 776,980

2020 - 102,782 - - - - 102,782

Total 1,643,009 102,782 - -8,122 - -206,705 1,530,964
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SUBSCRIPTION PRICE 5.4 NET DEBT AND BORROWINGS

2020 20700 e iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeteeeeeeeeeeeeetetteetteeettettttttttttttttttte ettt atteaeaaaateaatehaeehannnnnnnnnannennns s
Weighted Weighted ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Equity plans Issued price per option average share price averageshare price
NET DEBT AND BORROWINGS
2014 0.01€-1.97€ - 0.21€
"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" The Group's interest bearing debt is categorized as benefit between the de facto below market-rate and
2015 .................................................. 2 66€_510€ _______________________________________ 086€ ________________________________________ 0 72€ other financial liabilities. Interest-bearing debt from true market rate of interest which is treated as a
2017 1.14€-7.90€ 1.14€ - financial institutions are recorded at fair value net government grant and recognized as deferred
2018 """""""""""""""""""""""""""""" 114€—6 17€ """""""""""""""""""""" 114€ """"""""""""""""""""""""""" of transaction costs at the point of acquisition. In income. Government grants are recognized in the
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- determining fair value future cash outflows are income statement on a systematic basis over the
2019 085€_138€ _______________________________________________ B e . discounted using market rates adjusted for relevant periods in which related costs are recognized as
2020 0.96€ - - risk premiums. Loans from governmental agencies expenses.
Total 0.01€-7.90€ 1.00€ 0.45€ with a below-market rate of interest generate a
COST EFFECT OF SHARE BASED INCENTIVE PLAN NET DEBT AND BORROWINGS Net book value
EUR million 2020 2019
Costs related to equity plan - share-based payment 0.4 0.5 EUR million Currency Fair value Final due date 2020 2019
Costs related to the equity plan, total 0.4 0.5 Borrowmgs ..............................................................................................................................................................
''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''' Business Finland - Valtionkonttori 1 EUR 0.3 March 13, 2023 0.2 0.3
Business Finland - Valtionkonttori 2 EUR 0.4  August 31, 2023 0.4 0.4
ALLOCATION OF SHARE BASED INCENTIVES
. Total 0.7 0.6 0.7
EUR million 2020 20T e
Research and Development 0.2 0.3
Sales and Marketing 01 0.2 EUR million Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''' Non-current liabilities
Administration 0.1 01 o e s sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnsssssso S ............................
Non-current governmental agency loan 0.5 0.5
Total 0.4 0.5 5 geney
''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''' Total non-current liabilities 0.5 0.5
Current liabilities
Current governmental agency loan 0.1 0.2
Total current liabiliies 0.1 0.2
Total liabilities 0.6 0.7
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5.5 LEASING

LEASE CONTRACTS

The Group has entered into various agreements conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any EUR million Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
concerning property, plant and equipment classified covenants, but leased assets may not be used as -
) 'g Property, p quip ) ) ) y Right-of-use asset
as financial leases. Lease terms are negotiated on an SECUNILY fOr DOITOWING PUIPOSES. L
individual basis and contain different terms and Buildings 3.0 3.9
............................................................................................................................... . Total right-of-use asset 3.0 3.9
ACCOUNTING PRINCIP LS /IR
LEASING Lease liabilities
Payments associated with short-term leases and payments are linked to an inflation index. Variable Current 11 1.0
leases of low-value assets are recognized on a lease payments based on anindex are partof the 77Ty e
. . . ) . o o ) Non-current 2.1 3.2
straight-line basis as an expense in the income lease liability and are measured initially using the
statement. Short-term leases are leases with a lease index at the commencement date. Future changes Total lease liabilites 32 41
term of 12 months or less. Next Games has used of the index are considered in measurement at the
short-term exemption to its interim head office point in time in which lease payments change. o Co S R
. . . . . Financial statement includes the following costs
lease, and low-value exemption to its IT-equipment. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
] ) o related to the lease contracts
Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and the amount of the initial MEASUrEMENt OF [ASE oo e bbbttt
corresponding liability at the date of which leased liability, any lease payments made at or before the Amortization and impairment -~~~ - e
asset is available for use by the Group. Assets and commencement date, any initial direct costs, and Financial expenses 0.1 0.2
liabilities arising from a lease are measured on a restoration costs. T U
) Costs from low value underlying assets 0.5 0.8
present value basis.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability Total iz 21
Lease liabilities include fixed lease payments and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the
(including in-substance fixed payments) and also income statement over the lease period soasto LT
— . L . Total cash flows from lease payments 1.2 1.2
any implied expected amounts payable relating to produce a constant periodic rate of INterest 0N the o e e
residual value guarantee and exercise price of a remaining balance of the liability for each period.
purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
to exercise that option, and payments of penalties shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects on a straight-line basis. IFRS 16 related lease
the lessee exercising that option. The lease payments and interest payments are presented as
payments are discounted using interest rate implicit part of financing cash flow in the Company's cash
in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or using flow statement.
incremental borrowing rate. Certain property lease
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5.6 FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES

The Company's financial income mainly consists of overdrafts and foreign exchange losses on financing
interest income on the Company's bank deposits as activities. Other finance expenses comprise deposit
well as foreign exchange gains. Finance costs consist fees of bank savings and collateral fees. Other finance
of interest expenses on Business Finland loans, bank expense items are insignificant.

INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES
EUR million 2020 2019

Finance income and other finance income

Interest income 0.0 0.0
Exchange rate gain 0.0 0.1
Interest income and other finance income total 0.0 0.1

Interest expense -0.2 -0.2
Exchange rate loss -0.3 -0.1
Interest expense and other finance cost total -0.5 -0.3
Finance costs, net -0.5 -0.2

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AR .

FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES

Transaction costs related to loans are expensed in trans-action costs. Interest income is recognized
profit or loss using an effective interest rate using the effective interest rate, unless the receipt
method. The effective interest rate is the rate that of interest is uncertain. In such cases the interest
discounts the estimated future payments through income is accounted for on a cash basis. Foreign
the expected life of a loan to the net carrying exchange gains and losses on financing activities
amount of the financial liability. The calculation are recognized within finance income or costs.

includes all fees paid by the contracting parties and

5.7 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employee benefits include short-term employee
benefits, benefits paid upon termination and post
employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits
include salaries and fringe benefits, annual holidays
and bonuses. Benefits paid upon termination refer to
benefits arising from termination of employment, not
performance of work. Post-employment benefits

comprise benefits paid after employment, such as
healthcare. Next Games also has multiple Equity plans,
which costs are recorded to employee expenses
according to IFRS 2 principles. Benefits are classified
into defined contribution and defined benefit plans.
The Group has no defined benefit based pension
plans.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AR .
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Liabilities arising from short-term benefits are contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
recognized in other payables in respect of assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employees' services up to the reporting date and employee service in the current and prior periods.
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid Contributions to the defined contribution plans are
when the liabilities are settled. Incentive plans are charged directly to the statement of comprehensive
approved annually. The Group utilizes defined income in the year to which these contributions
contribution pension plans under which the Group relate.
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity with
no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
EUR million 2020 2019
Salaries and wages 4.6 5.0
Other social expenses 0.1 0.1
Share-based payment expense 0.4 0.5
Pension expenses 0.7 0.8
Total 5.8 6.5
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS BY FUNCTION

EUR million 2020 2019
Research and Development 1.6 2.5
‘Salesand Marketing 24 26
Administraion 7o 14
Total 5.8 6.5

GENERAL INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES
Average personnel employed 2020 2019
Research and Development 60 75
Sales and Marketing 34 18
Administraion w o 13
Total 109 106
AsofDec31 104 107

5.8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at hand and
deposits held at call with banks which all are non-
restricted. Foreign currency cash and cash equivalents
are translated into EUR by using the currency rate of

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

fiscal year end. The Group uses official currency rates
of the Bank of Finland for translation. Used bank
overdrafts are included in other current liabilities.

EUR million Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
Cash in hand and at bank 4.3 77
Total 4.3 7.7
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o. Other Disclosures

IN THIS SECTION

» Related Party Transactions

» Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
» Income Tax

» Management Compensation

» Events After the Reporting Period

6.1 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Next Games' related parties include its subsidiaries,
associated company, the members of the Board of
Directors, CEO, the members of the Management
Team, as well as shareholders having significant
influence over the Company. Related parties also
include the close family members of these individuals
and entities that are controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified as a related party. Transactions
with related parties were made on an arm’s length
basis.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

EUR million 2020 2019
Transactions with members of the Board of directors or

parties they are representing: - -
Licensing fees and marketing services 2.4 2.0
Other 0.3 -
BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

EUR million 2020 2019
Loans from board member - -
loantoCEO a3 00
Other payables to related party entity o8 07

Next Games related party transactions include normal business transactions with license partners (AMC). Transactions are normal in Next
Games business model and are following arm’s length principle. Details related to management compensation are disclosed in notes 6.4.

A related party loan was granted to the CEO as part of an equity compensation plan for 2019. Company had at the end of the reporting period
EUR 0.3 million loan receivable from the Company’s CEO. As January, 2021 loan has been amortized by EUR 0.1 million. Annual loan repayments
begin on December 1, 2024. Loan’s annual interest is 12-month Euribor added with 1.6%. Securing collateral has been received for the loan.
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6.2 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Next Games had a Finnish state-owned financing company Finnvera's guarantee of 70% on its overdraft limit of
3 million euros. The overdraft limit and related guarantee expired in June 2020.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
EUR million 2020 2019

Loans secured by mortgages

Loans = -
Amount of mortgages given as collateral - 1.0
Low value leasing asset commitment 0.7 0.9
Within a year 0.3 0.4
Over one year 0.4 0.5

6.3 INCOME TAX

Income tax expenses comprise of taxes from the current and previous periods, as well as deferred tax and other
immediate taxes.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AN .

INCOME TAX

Income tax expense is recognized in income comprehensive income. Current tax is the expected
statements except to the extent that it relates to tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
items recognized directly in equity or in other using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
comprehensive income, in which case it is the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax
recognized directly in equity or in other payable in respect of the previous year.
comprehensive income respectively. Next Games

has not recognized any income taxes in other Details on deferred taxes are available in notes 3.4

KEY JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES AN .

INCOME TAX

Key estimates and judgements referring to tax
deferrals can be found from note’s section 3.4.
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INCOME TAX RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAX EXPENSE
EUR million 2020 2019 EUR million 2020 2019
Current tax on profit for the period - - Profit before taxes -4.1 -7.8
Otherdirecttaxes - o1 Tax calculated at Finnish tax rate 20% o8 16
Income tax relating to previous financial years - S FRS 2 expenses, tax effect .01 o1
Total - 04 Expensesnotdeductible for taxpurposes 01 o1
Depreciations for capitalizations not deducted in taxation o1 04
Deferred tax Unrecognized deferred tax assets on tax losses 05 13
Change in deferred tax assets -0.0 -0.2 Otheradjustments -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- y -
Change in deferred tax liabilities 0.3 02 Shareofprofits of associates, netof tax 00 0.0
Total deferred tax expense 02 04 Otherdirecttaxes Yy o1
Income tax expense 0.2 -0.5 Income tax expense 0.2 -0.5

Reconciliation of the income tax expense recognized in the consolidated income statement to the taxes calculated using the Finnish tax rate
(20% for all periods). Other immediate taxes include Japan WHT at 10%.
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6.4 MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION The CEO is entitled to the statutory pension and the 6.5 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
age of retirement is determined in accordance with

The Board of Directors decides on the remuneration decides the terms of bonuses annually based on the statutory employee pension system. Termination No material events after the reporting period.

and criteria of the CEO and the members of the individual and company wide performance criteria. period for the CEO’'s employment contract is six

Management Team. Compensation consists of Management is subject to the same Equity plans as months, and he is entitled to the salary for the

monthly salary and bonus. The Board of Directors other personnel. termination period as well as the performance bonus

until the termination date. If the CEO decides to resign
from the Company or his employment is terminated
MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION during the bonus period (the fiscal year) or before the
EUR million 2020 2019 payment of the possible bonus is made, the CEO will
CEO remuneration (cash based) r\ot be e.ntitled to receive 'any payment for thg per.iod
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- : in question. In case of retirement, the bonus is paid

Salary, other remuneration and benefits 1.2&4 2 0.2 for the period of active employment. In case the notice
Pension costs - defined contribution plan 3 0.0 0.0 of termination is given to the CEO, a severance pay of
12 months’ base salary will be paid in addition to the
Total 0.2 0.3 , y Wit he pe ,
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- - salary for six months' notice period. If the CEO gives a
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ notice of termination to the Company, no severance
Management team remuneration (excluding CEO, cash based) pay will be paid in addition to the salary for the notice
""""""""""""""""""""" period.
Salary, other remuneration and benefits 1.2&4 0.7 0.6
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 3 0.1 0.1 1.) Salary is the monetary compensation paid by the Group to its
Management, including any bonus payments
Total 0.8 0.7

2.) Other benefits include customary benefits such as lunch and
mobile phone

................................................................................................................................................................................ . 3.) Pension contribution is based on the statutory employee

The Board of Directors remuneration (cash based) 0.1 0.2 pension system, the Group has no voluntary or additional

'''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''' pension plans in place

Option benefits are not monetary compensations from the

Group to its Management. The benefit achieved is calculated as

................................................................................................................................................................................ . the difference between price paid per share and prevailing share
price at the point of exercising. This amount is treated as a
taxable benefit as per the Finnish tax code. True monetary
benefits from programs are unknown and realized at the point
of share liquidation. Benefits are based on programs issued
between 2014 and 2020. Exercising of options does not impact
the Group's cash position, or profit and loss statement.

5.) IFRS 2 share based payments are expenses recorded to the
Profit and Loss statement based on options granted and vested
by management members

»
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PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PARENT COMPANY PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT

EUR Jan-Dec 2020 Jan-Dec 2019 EUR Jan-Dec 2020 Jan-Dec 2019
REVENUE 27,181,654.80 34,701,207.95 OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) -5,911,957.52 -9,319,746.70
Otheroperatlngmcome ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 70027632 ................. 1116608 | Financial income and expenses
'Raw materials and services Other interest income and financial income
CExternal services 1727481873 2649891802 From others 17,228.59 12779208
Rawmaterlalsand serwcestotal ------------------------------------------------------------------- - 1727481873 ........ 2649891802 | Reduction in value of investments held as non-current assets 6260540 ........................ 0 00
“ Personnel expenses ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Other interest expenses a nd other ﬂnanua I- expe nses ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Wagesand salaries 715905130 -6768487.40 Toothers 308,561.86 136,613.27
Soaalsecuntyexpenses ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES -6,355,896.19 932856789 |

Pensionexpenses 112743697 110697572 Income taxes
Other social security expenses 18222911 .............. - 20350103 | Income taxes for the financial year 0.00 -128,713.88
Personnel expenses total 846871738 ......... 807896415 | PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR -6,355,896.19 -9,457,281.77

Depreciation and amortisation according to plan -2,166,850.45 -2,842,256.20
Depreciation, amortisation and write-offs total -2,166,850.45 -2,842,256.20
Other operating expenses -5,883,502.08 -6,611,982.36
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

EUR Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019 EUR Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
ASSETS CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Jongtermdebtors e O i
Intangible assets Loan receivables 321,729.05 23,129.94
Intangible rights 1,272,436.98 1,959,068.81 Otherdebtors 395,200.00 395,200.00
Other intangible assets 1,487,624.07 2,506,473.68 Prepayments and accrued income 343,199.00 692,479.29
Intangible assets total 2,760,061.05 4,465,542.49 Deferred taxassets 2,849,791.40 2,849,791.40
Tangible assets Long-term debtors total 3,909,919.45 3,960,600.63
Machinery and equipment 161,711.29 215,615.29 Short-termdebtors
Tangible assets total 161,711.29 215,615.29 ~Tradedebtors 1,508,04572 2,891,896.72
Investments Loan receivables 0.00 1,640.07
Holdings in group undertakings 27,500.00 27,500.00 Otherdebtors _______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 128,540.36 156,863.78 -
Other shares and similar rights of ownership 0.00 62,605.40 _Prepayments and accrued income 2SR 2/194,745.21
Investments total 27,500.00 90,105.40 Short-term debtors total 3,917,881.76 5,245,145.78
NON-CURRENT ASSETS TOTAL 2,949,272.34 4,771,263.18 Cashinhandandatbanks 4,31,872.52 7,667,289.60
CURRENT ASSETS TOTAL 12,139,673.73 16,873,036.01
ASSETS TOTAL 15,088,946.07 21,644,299.19
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
EUR

Dec 31, 2020

Dec 31, 2019

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR Jan-Dec 2020 Jan-Dec 2019 EUR Jan-Dec 2020 Jan-Dec 2019
Cash flow from operating activities Cash flow from operating activities (A) -2,930,471.06 -7,121,080.37
Profit (loss) before appropriations and taxes 635580619 932856780

AdJustments ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Cash flow from investments
Depreciationaccordingtoplan 216685044 284225620 Purchase of tangible and intangibleitems 000 33577577
Impairment in non-current assets 62,605.40 0.00
Unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses 20354465 7145654  Cashflowfrominvestments® 000 335,775.77
Other non-cash items -95,297.85 -326,273.22
*Financial income and expenses ------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 6280682 -------------- 9688541 | _Cash flow from financing activites
Cashflowbefore workmgcaplta I changes386538673 .......... 678715604 ..... P }’_9_????'_?_ fl’.Q_f_l_”l_ ﬁﬁ?g_?ﬂf? .Q_fﬁg_l_{iff_){ _____________________________________________________________________________ 1124293 ____________ 8 07241829 _
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Repayment of short-term borrowings -67,000.00 -45,000.00
Worklngcap|talchanges -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Paid interest expenses and other financial expenses' -50,662.50 -297,472.22
Increase/decrease in trade and other short-term interestfree
_.F‘?S?‘Y?P!?? ) e 189,783.07 Cash flows from financing activities (C) -106,419.57 7,729,946.07
Increase/decrease in short-term interest-free liabilities (+)/(-) -302,606.50 -300,817.15
Workingcapitalchangestotal o LO0TATAI 0308 e of exchange ratediferencies oncoshand cash equvelents | 31aso6ds 805953
Lilketoiminnan rahavirta ennen rahoituseriajaveroja 285790942 63919012 Changeincashandcashequvalents sassatnos | senose
Paid interest and other financial expenses relating to operating activities ~ -72,81462  -97349.59 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 7,667,289.60 7,306,139.74
Interest received relating to operating activities 25298 o 38679 Cashandcashequivalentsatend ofperiod 431187252 766728960
Income taxes paid 0.00 -125,927.45
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" ‘ 1.) Includes share issue expenses: legal services, consulting services, and bank fees. Corresponding acquisition cost have been capitalized to

other intangible assets in balance sheet.
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Parent Company

NOTES TO THE PREPARATION
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Valuation principles and methods

Company's intangible and tangible assets have been
valued to the acquisition cost less planned,
accumulated depreciation. The tangible assets that
have an economic useful life of under three years or
an acquisition cost less than 850 euros have been
expensed during the financial year.

Trade receivables, loan receivables, other receivables,
prepayments and accrued income booked as
receivables have been valued to net value or a lower
probable value.

Debts have been valued to net value or a higher value
based on the comparison criterium.

Investments have been recognized to the acquisition
cost or a lower probable value.

Depreciation principles and methods

Trademarks 5-year straight-line
depreciation
Copyrights 3-year straight-line

depreciation
Capital expenses from
rented office spaces  5-year straight-line

depreciation

Notes to

IT softwares 3-year straight-line

depreciation

Licenses 3-year straight-line
depreciation
Merger loss 5-year straight-line

depreciation

3-year straight-line
depreciation

18 month straight-line
depreciation

IPO related expenses
Share issue expenses

Machinery
and equipment Reducing balance method

of 25% per year

Depreciations start when the asset is available for use.

Revenue recognition

Company generates revenue from two categories:

1. Games, in which services, virtual currencies and
products are sold (IAP)

2. Advertising revenue

The company develops games for mobile devices,
available to download for free but players can buy
virtual items in the game with real currency. Next
Games also receives revenue from ads placed in the
game. Purchased virtual items can be divided in to
durables and consumables. Durable items are
deferred over the lifetime of a player, product, or
group of products, whereas consumable items are
recognized immediately as revenue.

The Financial Statements

Company deferres revenue from the games based on
an estimate on how the players use the services and
virtual goods that they buy in the game. For the
revenue recognition, the company calculates an
estimated life-time for the players, individual products
or product groups, and deferres the payments
received based on this estimate. The company’s
current games, as well as any future games, are
different. Using the same principle, the life-time of the
products and players may differ between the games,
hence the deferred revenue differs for each game.
Advertising revenue is recognised when the
advertisement has been shown.

The direct expenses (commissions and license fees
directly relating to sales) have been deferred based on
the same principles as the revenue. Revenue deferral
is shown under Advances received, and the
corresponding commission- and license-expenses are
shown under Prepayments and accrued income.

Social influencer marketing costs are accrued and
expensed over their expected useful lives. TV and
radio marketing costs are expensed on an accrual
basis.

Description of purchased services

Purchased services includes hosting costs, user
acquisition costs, platform commissions, other
outsourced services, and license fees.

Accounting for pensions

The company's pension liabilities have been covered
through a pension insurance company. All pension
arrangements are defined contribution arrangements,
and the related costs are entered in the income
statement for the financial year in which they were
incurred.

Recognition of deferred tax

Deferred taxes are calculated for temporary
differences between tax bases and book values using
the tax rate for future years that has been confirmed
at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are
measured according to the conservatism principle.

IPO expenses

Company has capitalized IPO related expenses to
other intangible assets. Capitalized amount includes
legal and consulting services, bank fees, and insurance
expenses. Management has estimated that the IPO
has had a positive effect on the company's estimated
future financial performance. Due to this IPO
expenses have been capitalized and will be
depreciated over the expected useful life.

External services

Company's licensing contracts have several terms that
can have an effect, depending on the game's lifecycle,
on the amount of licensing fees payable.
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NOTES TO THE PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT

EUR Jan-Dec 2020 Jan-Dec 2019 EUR Jan-Dec 2020 Jan-Dec 2019
Revenue Other operating expenses
“Bycategory of activity Marketing expenses 13741820  235166.36
ames 165480 3470120765 Outsourced development and testing services 75354462 868,996.03
™ ITsoftware and hardware expenses 172099081  2.206232.54
By geographical markets Legal and consulting expeness 78649790 789,829.44
NorthAmerica 1320380843 16,656,579.82 Travelexpenses 25756.23 200,984.45
EU ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 797734878 ............ 971633823 | Office space expenses 1,647,104.85 1,582,285.68
CRinland 17305227 Sa701208  Otherexpenses 81218942 728,487.86
Other 580742532 798127783  Total 5,883,502.03 6,611,982.36
Otheroperatingincome AUditOrs fees
Grants recelved ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 67309932 ------------------------- (-). 00 ' Audit of financial statements 87,991.71 80,361.00
Gain from disposals, ther intangibie and tangble assets soesss Gizoo  Emgagememsreferedtomthe Audtngact 1125 w000 462500
Other ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 2411007 ------------------ 205408 | Tax consulting 7,691.00 0.00
Total 700,276.32 116608 Otherfees 706250 31,251.50
Total 104,650.21 116,237.50

Auditor’s fees 2020 include fees paid to the predecessor audit firm (PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy) and to the current audit firm (Deloitte Qy).
Deloitte Oy was appointed as the company’s auditor in the AGM on May 27, 2020.
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NOTES TO THE PERSONNEL AND MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET ASSETS
EUR Jan-Dec 2020 Jan-Dec 2019 EUR Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
Average headcount during the financial year 109 106 Specification of the assets in the balance sheet

Wages, salaries and other remuneration of directorsand | Intangiblerights

_management (cash based) Acquision costatjan1 365710726 3,340,748.59

ED s 202170.32 .. 23643097 agditions 40746500  316358.67

_Members of the Board of Directors oo R 14400000 17650000 pcquisition costatDec31 4064,572.26 - 3,657,107.26

O 0N IS e e
EUR Dec 31, 2020 Accumulated depreciation and impairment at Jan 1 1,698,038.45 600,789.53

Wenegementoptions Sepreciation o the fmancialyeay eameess TS

et Nemi, Chairmanof theBoard 1400 Accumuiated depreciation and mpament st bee st N on o
Xenophin Lategan, Member of the Board 31,500

TeemuHuuhtanen, CEO 193,344 CarryingamountatDec31 127243698 1959,068.81
Saara Bergstrom, Management member 180,726

AnninaSalvén, Management member 171,084

Kalle Hiitola, Management member 1,400
loannis Alexopoulos, Management member 36,495
Joonas Laakso, Management member 22,293
Matias Arje, Management member 24,999
Total 663,241

More information on option programs are presented in the Board of Directors’ report.
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NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET ASSETS

EUR Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019 EUR Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
Other intangible assets Machinery and equipment

Acquiston costatjan1 727505278 690750096 Acquisitoncostatjant 579787.35 579,787.35
Cadditions 000 36755182 Acquision costatDec31 57978735 579,787.35
Acquisition costatDec31 727505278 727505278
B 0 e Accumulated depreciation and impairmentatjan1 36417206 292,300.34
Accumulated depreciation and impairment atjan1 476857910 300544354 | Depreciation for the financial year 5390400 7187172
Depreciation for the financial year 101884961 167313556  Accumulated depreciation and impairment atDec31 41807606 364172.06
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at Dec31 578742871 476857910
S CaryingamountatDec31 16171129 215,615.29
CarryingamountatDec31 148762407 250647368
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" Holdings in group undertakings
Acquisition cost for capitalized IPO costs have been 2,705,209.25 euros from which a depreciation of 150,292.41 euros (2019: 901,736.40 euros) Acq wsmoncostat Jan 1 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 2750000 ---------------- 2750000 |
have been recognized during the financial year 2020. s

Acquisition cost at Dec 31 27,500.00 27,500.00

Accumulated impairment Jan 1 0.00 0.00

Accumulated impairment Dec 31 0.00 0.00

Carrying amount at Dec 31 27,500.00 27,500.00
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EUR Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019 EUR Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

Other shares and similar rights of ownership Prepayments and accrued income
Acquisition costatlan1 107396891 107396891 Lomgterm
Acquisition costatDec31 107396891 107396891  Prepayments 34092400 692,475.00
o other 227500 429
Accumulated impairmentjant  1011,36351 101136351  Shortterm
Gmpairment 6260540 000  Grantreceivables 25670432 0.00
Accumulated impairment Dec31 107396891 101136351 Prepayments and marketing expense accruals 1607,38056  1,669,522.01
. 3 Accrued costofsales 32697780 482,482.20
CarryingamountatDec31 000 6260540 Other 23300 - 42,741.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ Total 2,624,494.68 2,887,224.50

Armada Interactive Oy has filed a bankruptcy as of September 22, 2020. Company has recognized an impairment for its shareholding in
Armada Interactive Oy.

Deferred taxes
Recognized deferred tax assets from the parent

OWNERSHIP IN OTHER COMPANIES company'’s tax losses in the financial statements
Dec 31, 2020 amounted to 2,849,791.40 euros. Recognition is based

Group companies on management's prudent assessment that the
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" . company is able to utilize the tax benefit generated b

Next Games GmbH 100% ownership pany ) ) & y
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- : the tax losses. Tax losses expire during 2023-2030.

All group companies have been consolidated in to the parent company's consolidated

financial statements.

Associate companies

Armada Interactive Oy (filed a bankruptcy as of September 22, 2020) 11.79% ownership

Associate company has been consolidated in to the parent company’s consolidated financial

statements. Next Games corporation had a significant influence on the associate company’s

operational and financial decision making.
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NOTES TO BALANCE SHEET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

EUR Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019 EUR Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31,2019
Equlty ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ Lease agreement liabilities
~Share capitaljant ... go,000.00 80,000.00 During next financial year 347,114.12 398,491.39
Share capital Dec 31 80,000.00 80,000.00 Later 353,951.77 532,726.62
Total restricted equity Dec 31 80,000.00 80,000.00 Total 701,065.88 931,218.01
Invested unrestricted equity Jan 1 61,409,603.21 53,335,359.79 . . .
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Deposits and commitments from office spaces
Share issue 0.00 7,996,649.80
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Rental deposits from office spaces: 395,200 euros
Bxeerdise of options ] S50, - 77,593.62 (other long-term receivables).
Invested unrestricted equity Dec 31 61,428,663.05 61,409,603.21
EUR 2020 2019
Retained earnings Jan 1 -47,572,952.98 -38,115,671.21 _Rent commitments (excluding 24%vVAT)
Retained earnings Dec 31 -47,572,952.98  -38,115,671.21 Duringnextfinancialyear 12202715 1,388,70012
''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''' Later 2,549,197.86 3,934,650.34
Loss for the year -6,355,896.19 -9,457,281.77 Total 3,939,669.42 . 5,323,350.46
Total unrestricted equity Dec 31 7,499,813.88 13,836,650.23 . L )
quity Investments in real estate used as collateral. The limit was not in use at the end
Total equity D31 7,579,813.88 13,916,650.23 Company is liable to remeasure its VAT deductions of the previous reporting period at December 31,
from the real estate investment completed during the 2019.
N < oo emmenemnaeneae® financial year 2018 if the taxable usage of the real
Group liabilities . . . .
................................................................................................................................................................................. estate decreases during the revision period. Total Other commitments
_Other liabilites 1893961 25,746.89 remeasurement liability is 278,418.19 euros and the The company has outstanding license agreements
final remeasurement year is 2027. which may trigger further off balance sheet
""""""""""""""""""""" commitments during the following years including
Accruals and deferred income o .
................................................................................................................................................................................. Overdraft contracts minimum guarantees, minimum development
ACCFU&\' fOF otherd|rectcost Of saIes ______________________________________________________________________ 98820100 ............... 51429700 _ The company had a Danske Bank overdraft limit of budgets and marketing spend. These possible
Staff expenses 1,632,431.62 962,264.59 3,000,000.00 euros valid until June 2020, to which commitments are off-balance sheet items.
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" there was a business mortgage of 1,000,000.00 euros
Other 754,060.00 723,946.96
Total 3,374,692.62 2,200,508.55
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CALCULATION OF DISTRIBUTABLE FUNDS
EUR

Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

Distributable unrestricted equity

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Company have had transactions with the related
parties during the financial year: 2,356,930.24 euros
(2019: 1,991,161.10 euros). Transactions with the
related parties includes licensing fees and purchased
marketing services.

Control over the entity or significant influence over the
entity’s financial and operating decision-making
processes are requirements when deciding company’s
related parties. During year 2019, company has traded
with one of its related party: AMC, license holder for
The Walking Dead.

In addition, the company has a loan receivable of
321,729.05 euros (as of December 31, 2020) from the
company CEO. Loan receivable has been repaid
88,069.90 euros in January 2021. Contractual annual
loan repayments begin at December 1, 2024. Loan’s
annual interest is 12-month Euribor added with 1.6%.
Securing collateral has been received for the loan.

7,499,813.88 13,836,650.23

COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have been
minor on the company’s business operations. More
information on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
on the company's operations is presented in the Board
of Directors' report.

Signatures of the Financial
Statements and Board of Directors’

Report

Helsinki, 11th March, 2021

Teemu Huuhtanen
CEO

Nicholas Seibert
Board member

Jari Ovaskainen
Board member

Xenophin Lategan
Board member

Petri Niemi
Chairman of the Board

Peter Levin
Board member

Elina Anckar
Board member
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Auditor’s Note

Our auditor’s report has been issued today
Helsinki, 11th March, 2021

Deloitte Oy
Audit Firm

Mikko Lahtinen
Authorized Public Accountant (KHT)
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Auditor’s Report

(Translation of the Finnish Original)

To the Annual General Meeting of Next Games Oyj

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Next
Games Oyj (business identity code 2536072-3) for the
year ended 31 December 2020. The financial
statements comprise the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, balance sheet, statement of
changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes,
including a summary of significant accounting policies,
as well as the parent company's income statement,
balance sheet, statement of cash flows and notes.

In our opinion

»

»

the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the group’s financial position,
financial performance and cash flows in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU

the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the parent company’s financial performance and
financial position in accordance with the laws and
regulations governing the preparation of financial
statements in Finland and comply with statutory
requirements

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with good
auditing practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under
good auditing practice are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the parent company and of the
group companies in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are applicable in Finland and are
relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND THE MANAGING DIRECTOR FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance

with the laws and regulations governing the
preparation of financial statements in Finland and
comply with statutory requirements. The Board of
Directors and the Managing Director are also
responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of
Directors and the Managing Director are responsible
for assessing the parent company’s and the group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters relating to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting. The
financial statements are prepared using the going
concern basis of accounting unless there is an
intention to liquidate the parent company or the
group or cease operations, or there is no realistic
alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements as a whole are

free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with good auditing practice
will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing
practice, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

» ldentify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
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procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
parent company'’s or the group’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of
Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the parent
company's or the group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause
the parent company or the group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events
so that the financial statements give a true and fair
view.

» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

OTHER REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

OTHER INFORMATION

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the report of the Board of
Directors and the information included in the Annual
Report, but does not include the financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the

audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

With respect to the report of the Board of Directors,
our responsibility also includes considering whether
the report of the Board of Directors has been
prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report of the
Board of Directors is consistent with the information
in the financial statements and the report of the Board
of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of the other
information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Helsinki, 11 March 2021

Deloitte Oy
Audit Firm

Mikko Lahtinen
Authorized Public Accountant (KHT)
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